
CABINET MEETING
4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 23RD MARCH, 2016

COUNCIL CHAMBER

This Agenda has been prepared by the Democratic Services Department. Any 
member of the public requiring information should contact the department on 
(01685) 725203 or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk.

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda 
can be found on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers.

A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 
Members of the Cabinet Committee are reminded 
of their personal responsibility to declare any 
personal and prejudicial interest in respect of 
matters contained in this agenda in accordance 
with the provisions of the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct.

Note:

a. Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest; and 

b. Where Members withdraw from a meeting 
as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave. 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


OPEN SESSION

Strategic

3. Annual Equality Report for 2014/15 
To consider report of the Chief Executive. (Pages 1 - 8)

4. Request for the Leisure Trust to Increase Charges 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation. 

(Pages 9 - 24)

Portfolio

5. Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services.

(Pages 25 - 86)

6. Cohesion Programme Funding Developments 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services.

(Pages 87 - 94)

7. Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services.

(Pages 95 - 116)

8. Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 
To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services.

(Pages 117 - 146)

Information Reports

9. Cyfarthfa Castle Phase 1 Redevelopment - Design 
Team Appointment 
To receive report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 147 - 150)

CLOSED SESSION



Exempt

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the Meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraphs 12 and 14 under 
Part 4 of Schedule 12A of Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972.

10. Sundry Debt Write Off Report 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 151 - 154)

11. Council Tax/NDR Debt Write Off Report 
To consider report of the Corporate Director Place 
and Transformation.

(Pages 155 - 162)

RE-OPENED SESSION

12. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair 

COMPOSITION: Councillors B Toomey (Chair) 

P Williams, C J Barry, D Jones, H R Jones and 
L A Matthews

together with appropriate officers

If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725203

Os byddai’n well gennych gopi o’r agenda hwn mewn iaith arall, cysylltwch a 
democratic@merthyr.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01685 725203

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk
mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and 
Gentlemen

Annual Equality Report for 2014-2015

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 2012-2016 were 
approved by Full Council on 29th February 2012.

1.2 In addition to preparing a Strategic Equality Plan the Equality Act 2010 and Public 
Sector Equality Duty also requires the Council to prepare and publish an annual 
report every year noting progress across all aspects of its equalities work, including 
progress on delivering its Equality Objectives.

1.3 The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2014-2015 is available via the Background 
Papers link and includes progress against delivering the Local Authority’s Equality 
Objectives for 2012-2016.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1 The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2014-2015 be approved.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Equality Act 2010

3.1 The Equality Act 2010 (the Act) brings together and replaces the previous anti-
discrimination laws with a single Act. It simplifies and strengthens the law, removes 

Date Written 8th March 2016
Report Author Kerry O’Donovan
Service Area Corporate Services

Committee Division Strategic

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 23rd March 2016

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



inconsistencies and makes it easier for people to understand and comply with it. The 
majority of the Act came into force on 1st October 2010.

3.2 The Act includes a new public sector equality duty (the ‘general duty’), replacing the 
separate duties on race, disability and gender equality. This came into force on 5th 
April 2011.

3.3 The new general duty covers the following protected characteristics:

 Age.
 Gender reassignment.
 Sex.
 Race – including ethnic or national origin, colour or nationality.
 Disability.
 Pregnancy and maternity.
 Sexual orientation.
 Religion or belief – including lack of belief.

 
3.4 It applies to marriage and civil partnership, but only in respect of the requirement to 

have due regard to the need to eliminate discrimination.
 
3.5 The aim of the general duty is to ensure that public authorities and those carrying out 

a public function consider how they can positively contribute to a fairer society 
through advancing equality and good relations in their day-to-day activities. The duty 
ensures that equality considerations are built into the design of policies and the 
delivery of services and that they are kept under review. This will achieve better 
outcomes for all.

3.6 Public bodies are required to have due regard to the need to:

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other 
conduct that is prohibited by the Act.

 Advance equality of opportunity between people who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and those who do not.

 Foster good relations between people who share a protected characteristic and 
those who do not.

Specific duties in Wales

3.7 The broad purpose of the specific duties in Wales is to help listed bodies in their 
performance of the general duty and to aid transparency.

3.8 The specific duties in Wales are set out in the Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) 
(Wales) Regulations 2011. The specific duties in Wales came into force on 6th April 
2011.

3.9 The specific duties in Wales included a requirement for listed bodies to develop and 
publish a Strategic Equality Plan by 2nd April 2012 that contained Equality Objectives 

Page 2



and included information on the engagement process carried out in order to identify 
these. 

3.10 The Council’s Strategic Equality Plan and Equality Objectives for 2012-2016 were 
approved by Full Council on 29th February 2012.

3.11 The Strategic Equality Plan sets out how the Council promotes equalities in relation 
to employment practices and service delivery.

Annual Reporting

3.12 The Council is also required to prepare and publish an annual report every year 
noting progress across all aspects of its equalities work, including progress on 
delivering its Equality Objectives.

 
4.0 ANNUAL EQUALITY REPORT FOR 2014-2015

4.1 The Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2014-2015 is available via the Background 
Papers link. Some of the key points to note include the following:

Equality Improvement Peer Review

4.2 An Equality Improvement Peer Review led by the Welsh Local Government 
Association (WLGA) was carried out at the Council in June 2013. This resulted in the 
production of an action plan which the Council has been implementing. Progress was 
reviewed by the WLGA in the Summer of 2014 and we received very positive 
feedback.

4.3 An internal audit of progress on the delivery of the action plan has also been carried 
out. Their findings were as follows:

 It has been determined that action is being taken in line with the proposals stated 
in the Equality Improvement Peer Review report published by the Welsh Local 
Government Association.

 We have determined that at the time of this audit the progress in assessing and 
implementing the proposals for improvement identified in the peer review is 
assessed as good and that the Equality Action Plan provides a stable platform in 
ensuring that all proposals are addressed by management.

Public Sector Equality Duty Monitoring for 2014-2015

4.4 The Equality and Human Rights Commission (EHRC) regulates the Public Sector 
Equality Duty (PSED). 

4.5 For local government, fire and rescue and police services the EHRC selected the 
Specific Duty on Engagement for PSED monitoring for the period April 2014 to 
October 2015.

4.6 The Council provided detailed evidence to the EHRC on the engagement work that it 
had undertaken during this period

Page 3



4.7 The EHRC’s PSED Monitoring Report on engagement (which was published on their 
website) included an example of engagement from each Local Authority. The 
comments for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council were as follows:

 Merthyr Tydfil Council told us that it has engaged with people with all protected 
characteristics on a range of different topics.

Council engagement has led to changes to initial proposals to physical 
regeneration developments. Feedback from engagement relating to the new 
railway station and college car park resulted in changes. There has been 
increased seating levels, improved lighting and changes to the type of trees 
planted, to avoid heavy leaf fall at the railway station. The new college car park 
design was amended to include a safe drop off point. 

Proposals to withdraw home to school and college transport for young people 
aged over 16 were changed following consultation and replaced with proposals to 
maintain free transport for those who live outside a 3 mile walking distance.

Assessment of Impact

4.8 Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) documentation continues to be a mandatory 
accompaniment to reports for Cabinet and Council. This demonstrates how 
Councillors and Report Authors consider equality as part of their decision making.

4.9 The EqIA form and guidance have been reviewed in partnership with Rhondda 
Cynon Taf County Borough Council and was rolled out for implementation from April 
2015. The form is easier to complete, more focussed and supported by easy to 
follow step by step guidance. All EqIA forms are published on the Council’s website 
along with the Cabinet and Council Reports.

4.10 The EqIA process also continues to be an integral part of the Council’s 
Transformational Change Programme.

Workforce Equalities Policy

4.11 The Council’s updated Workforce Equalities Policy was approved by Full Council on 
25th February 2015. This document is a revision of the original Equalities Policy 
2011. It has been amended to reflect new legislative duties under the Equality Act 
2010 and the Public Sector Equality Duty 2011 and is supported by the Strategic 
Equality Plan 2012-2016.

4.12 The aim of this Policy is to ensure that every job applicant or employee receives 
equality of treatment regardless of their protected characteristic and is not 
disadvantaged by conditions or requirements which cannot be shown to be justified.

Time to Change Wales

4.13 Along with Cwm Taf University Health Board and Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council, the Council has signed a joint Time to Change Wales (TTCW) 

Page 4



organisational pledge to tackle mental health stigma and discrimination in the 
workplace. Councillor David Davies is the Council’s TTCW Champion.

Diversity in Democracy Programme

4.14 Councillor Ernie Galsworthy (the Council’s Equality Champion) is a mentor for the 
Council on the Welsh Government’s Diversity in Democracy Programme to provide 
mentoring to prospective candidates and raise the profile of the role of Councillor.

4.15 The Programme aims to increase the diversity of individuals standing for election to 
local government.

Progress against delivering the Council’s Equality Objectives for 2012-2016

4.16 Progress against delivering the Council’s Equality Objectives for 2012-2016 can be 
found in the Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2014-2015. However, for 
information, some examples of the progress made are shown below:

 Bridges into Work has worked with a range of employers to develop provision 
that fits recruitment needs. Throughout 2014/15 Bridges into Work delivered 
employability focused provision to 850 people aged between 16 and 65.

 The Council has worked with a range of partner agencies and providers to 
engage unemployed young people aged 16-24 and 102 individuals during 
2013/14 have been recorded as gaining employment which has exceed original 
expectations and targets. 

 Furthermore, 225 individuals secured employment through the Bridges into Work 
Programme in 2014/15. Some of these interventions came through direct delivery 
approached with employers needs and through the continued success of 
bespoke Pre Employment Courses held at the Neighbourhood Learning Centre. 

 Furthermore, 261 individuals have been supported to gain qualifications or 
accredited learning outcomes through this approach.

 Active Merthyr work in partnership with Merthyr College to support the Young 
Ambassadors Programme. Young people are upskilled in both formal and 
informal training to support delivery of sport and physical activity, both in a school 
and community environment.

 In regards to disability, we have a number of disabled people in volunteer roles 
across Merthyr Tydfil. Two of these individuals sit on the Wales National Young 
Ambassador Steering Group and are supported by Active Merthyr with a number 
of opportunities. We have also recently recruited a young ambassador with a 
sensory impairment.

 The Disability Sport Wales insport programme, which the Council is undertaking, 
works to ensure services and facilities are inclusive of disabled people. This 
includes, for example, awareness training for staff, accessibility audits around 
facilities and programmes, ensuring inclusion is evidenced in strategic plans and 
that marketing and promotion is accessible and includes appropriate imagery and 
terminology.

 Links established with non-sporting organisations to improve services and 
organisations to improve inclusive delivery. Examples of this include working with 
the Additional Learning Needs Team on our schools Paralympic Road Show and 

Page 5



with health professionals in the Local Health Board where we have formalised a 
referral process.

 Merthyr Global Village is held annually. The various performers, workshops and 
demonstrations throughout the day are from many parts of the World, much of 
which are closely linked with the diverse communities within Merthyr Tydfil.

 Other events have also been held to encourage engagement and integration to 
uphold, foster and encourage community cohesion. Examples include: 

o To raise the profile and support for the Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and 
Transgender (LGBT) community within Merthyr Tydfil and build on the 
LGBT History month events held in the libraries and museum for the first 
year in 2014, the Mayor on behalf of the Council raised the rainbow flag for 
a week for the first time in February 2015.

o LGBT picnic in the park.
o Gypsy Traveller Community Open Day to celebrate Gypsy Traveller 

History month.
 The Council have been and are continuing to work with The Big Lottery – 

Community Voice MAGNET Project (Merthyr Achieving Greater Networking and 
Engagement Together), which provides an opportunity for members of 
marginalised communities to increase their voice in influencing public service 
providers policy, planning and delivery processes. The Merthyr Portfolio is made 
up of the following seven projects, each being led by different voluntary 
organisations:

MAGNET Portfolio of Projects in Merthyr Tydfil

Project Name Target Group
Bridges Gypsy / Travellers.
Focal Point Migrant Workers.
One Voice Disabled Persons.
Perthyn Young People (aged 16-24) in Caedraw, Gurnos and 

Trelewis.
POSSIB Working Aged Men and Families in Northern 

Communities First Cluster.
Up and Coming Young People (aged 11-24).
Visible LGBT Persons.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 There are no specific financial implications identified in this report. Any financial 
implications arising from the report will be reported to Cabinet/Council as 
appropriate, including potential options for funding.

6.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

6.1 The Single Integrated Plan & Sustainability Impact Assessment has been completed 
and the proposals positively impact on the Corporate Plan and Single Integrated 
Plan as the Council’s Annual Equality Report for 2014-2015 notes progress across 
all aspects of the Local Authority’s equalities work, including progress on delivering 

Page 6



its Equality Objectives for 2012-2016, which impact positively on all of the protected 
characteristics. No negative impacts have been identified.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report. It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time. The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

GARETH CHAPMAN
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

COUNCILLOR PHIL WILLIAMS
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

& CORPORATE SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Strategic Equality Plan 
for 2012-2016

February 2012 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 
Council Website.

Welsh Local 
Government Association 
Equality Improvement 
Peer Review

June 2013 Network drive.

Equality and Human 
Rights Commission 
Public Sector Equality 
Duty Monitoring Report 
for 2014-2015

January 2016 Equality and Human Rights 
Commission website.

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

REQUEST FOR THE LEISURE TRUST TO 
INCREASE CHARGES
1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 Council of 28th January 2015 approved the final transfer of Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council’s (the Council) Leisure and Cultural Services to the Merthyr Tydfil 
Leisure Trust (the Leisure Trust) effective from 1st April 2015.

1.2 Cabinet has already agreed the management fee for the Trust for 2016/17. The 
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) produced by the Trust included an assumption 
on proposed price increases to arrive at the budgeted figures in their MTFP.

1.3 Under the Terms and Conditions of the transfer, the Leisure Trust is required to seek 
permission from the authority to increase charges for items contained within the 
service specification.

1.4 The authority has received an application from the Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust to 
seek approval for the increase in charges by 3% overall.

1.5 The reason stated by the Leisure Trust for requesting an increase in prices is to 
cover increases in inflation and the 2016/17 1% pay award and incremental staffing 
cost increases.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that

2.1 The proposed price increases of 3% overall by the Leisure Trust be approved. 

Date Written 1st March 2016
Report Author John Sellwood
Service Area Leisure, Culture and Sports 

Development
Committee Division Cabinet 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non  Exempt
Committee Date 23rd March 2016

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



2.2 The Leisure Trust continue to monitor usage figures closely in order to assess the 
any impact the price increases may have had.  

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Council of 28th January 2015 approved the final transfer of Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council’s (the Council) Leisure and Cultural Services to the Merthyr Tydfil 
Leisure Trust (the Leisure Trust) effective from 1st April 2015.

3.2 Cabinet has already agreed the management fee for the Trust for 2016/17. The 
Medium Term Financial Plan produced by the Trust included an assumption on 
proposed price increases to arrive at the budgeted figures in their MTFP.

3.3 Under the Terms and Conditions of the transfer, the Leisure Trust is required to seek 
permission from the authority to increase charges for items contained within the 
service specification.

4.0 CHARGES INCREASE

4.1 The authority has received an application from the Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust to 
seek approval for the increase in charges by 3% overall. The current and proposed 
indicative prices are attached as Appendix A.  The final prices will be rounded to 
avoid small coin denominations.

4.2 The 3% increase in charges will provide the Leisure Trust with an estimated £30,000 
of additional income in 2016/17.

4.3 The reason stated by the Leisure Trust for the increase is to cover increases in 
inflation and the 2016/17 1% pay award and incremental staffing cost increases. 

4.4 A comparison of the prices with neighbouring authorities has been made. In general, 
prices charged are in the mid-range compared to our neighbours, although there are 
examples with Merthyr Tydfil being the most expensive for a daily paying adult to 
swim and also being the cheapest for senior racquet sports.

4.5 The Leisure Trust does not feel that the proposed increases will have an impact on 
usage of facilities. The trust will need to monitor the situation carefully over the 
coming months to assess this. It is worth noting that there has been a marked 
reduction in the numbers of visitors to the Cyfarthfa Museum in 2015/16 by 11,675 
visits (21%) in the first 9 month and this has been attributed to charges being applied 
when entry was previously free.

4.6 The Leisure Trust has undertaken some consultation on the proposed uplift in 
charges with users. Four responses were received as follows: 

 One stated they were happy with the increase.

Page 10



 Two suggested rounding up the random pennies. (This will be done)
 One club felt that on-going annual price increases were difficult to keep up with 

as their club fees do not increase annually.
 One felt adult class prices were too high considering the classes offered were not 

modern enough. (Prices charged for adult classes by the Trust are actually one of 
the cheapest compared to our neighbours.) 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S)

5.1 There is no financial implication to the authority, but the Leisure Trust has 
provisionally included in their MTFP a general price increase of 3%. 

5.2 The estimate value in terms of a general increase of 3% to the Leisure Trusts 
charges is around £30,000 in increased income.

6.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

6.1 The Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability Impact Assessment has been 
completed and the proposal mainly shows a positive impact, however there are two 
that indicate a possible negative impact.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ELLIS COOPER 
CORPORATE DIRECTOR PLACE AND 
TRANSFORMATION

COUNCILLOR DAVID JONES
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

NEIGHBOURHOOD
SERVICES AND PUBLIC PROTECTION

Page 11



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Leisure Trust Proposed 
Price List 2016/17

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



Page 19



Page 20



Page 21



Page 22



Page 23



Page 24



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To present to Cabinet the proposed legal agreement and financial schedule for the 
regional arrangements for the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development service.

1.2 Merthyr Tydfil receives an annual Grant from Welsh Government to support its 
Social Care Workforce Development Programme and applications for 2015-16 were 
for the first time required to be submitted on a regional basis.

1.3 Welsh Government acknowledged that there is a significant transition between local 
and regional working but their expectation is that the integration of training plans and 
amalgamation of partnerships progress over time.

1.4 In accordance with the Welsh Government’s guidance the Cwm Taf Social Services 
and Wellbeing Partnership agreed, as part of its regional Implementation plan, to 
initiate a review of the social care training arrangements in the two Local Authorities 
by June 2015 with a view to implementing a regional service from April  2016.

1.5 This review was considered by the Senior Management teams in both Merthyr Tydfil 
and Rhondda Cynon Taf in July 2015 who provided agreement in principle to 
proceed with a regional Social Care Workforce Development Unit subject to Cabinet 
approval and further work on the governance arrangements. 

Date Written 7th March 2016
Report Author Mark Anderton
Service Area Workforce Development
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 23rd March 2016

Page 25

Agenda Item 5



2.0 RECOMMENDATION that

2.1 The detailed Governance arrangements for the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 
Development Service, as set out in the Legal Agreement for Merthyr Tydfil and 
Rhondda Cynon Taf Council attached as Appendix 1 be endorsed.

3.0 INTRODUCTION 

3.1 In October 2015 Cabinet authorised officers to create a joint social care workforce 
development unit across Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf Local Authorities 
with Rhondda Cynon Taf acting as the host employer.

3.2 The detailed Governance arrangements set out in the attached Legal Agreement will 
provide the required framework for officers to progress this arrangement when 
formally endorsed.

4.0 BACKGROUND 

4.1 Merthyr Tydfil receives an annual Grant from Welsh Government to support its 
Social Care Workforce Development Programme.  As reported to Cabinet in July 
applications for 2015-16 were for the first time required to be submitted on a regional 
basis 

4.2 Welsh Government acknowledge that there is a significant transition between local 
and regional working but their expectation is for the integration of training plans and 
amalgamation of partnerships 

4.3 With this understanding of the Welsh Government direction of travel the Cwm Taf 
Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership agreed, as part of its regional 
implementation plan, to initiate a review of the social care training arrangements in 
the two Local Authorities. 

4.4 The outcome of this review recommended the development of a joint Regional 
Workforce Development Unit

4.5 The benefits of the proposed regional Social Care Workforce Development Unit are 
as follows: 

 Promotes more effective deployment of resources. 
 Builds on the existing collaborative arrangements for other workforce 

development solutions. 
 Aligns to the national, regional and local transformation agenda. 
 Creates opportunities to improve the operating model of the service. 

Page 26



5.0 THE LEGAL AGREEMENT

5.1 The Legal agreement has been developed with the advice and endorsement of 
Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf Legal, Finance and Human Resource officers 
in addition to specialist advice from Eversheds regarding the TUPE Regulations.

5.2 The agreement will commence on 1st April 2016 initially for 12 months with facility to 
extend every 2 years thereafter.

5.3 Rhondda Cynon Taf is identified as the host employer.  Operational management will 
be located within the remit of the Head of Transformation with the overall 
governance overseen by a Management Board.  The terms of reference for the 
Management Board are set out in schedule 2 of the attached legal agreement.

5.4 Rhondda Cynon Taf will provide the financial, administrative, accounting systems 
and associated support for the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 
Service.

5.5 Schedule 4 of the attached legal agreement sets out the Financial Protocol that will 
govern the financial relationship between Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf. 

5.6 As set out in the agreement the anticipated value of ‘cash’ contributions required to 
fund the operation of Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service during 
the Initial Term (based on initial service delivery plans) is shown below:

Estimated Budget 2016/17 

 RCTCBC MTCBC Total 
Cwm Taf

Local Authority Core Expenditure Budget 513,458 69,470 582,928 

SCWDP (Grant Funded) Expenditure Budget 555,870 173,473 729,343 

SCWDP (LA Core 30% Match Funding) 
Expenditure Budget 238,230 74,346 312,576 

Less SCDWP Grant Income -555,870 -173,473 -729,343 

Net LA Core Funding Budget 2016/17 751,688 143,816 895,504 

Other grant funding    

PLOF (Grant Funded) Expenditure Budget 100,792 17,900 118,692 

Less PLOF Grant Income -100,792 -17,900 -118,692 

Net PLOF Budget 2016/17 0 0 0

Note: Budget and Grant allocations for 2016/17 shown above are indicative pending confirmation of final budget settlement.

Page 27



6.0 HUMAN RESOURCES

6.1 The staff structure has been shared with Trade Unions and staff as part of a formal 
consultation period (ended on 12th February) with no concerns raised.  The final 
structure is published in the attached Legal Agreement as schedule 5.

6.2 Human Resources have worked alongside the service to ensure that the process 
complies with the requirements of TUPE.

6.3 Four Merthyr Tydfil members of staff will be subject to TUPE.

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

7.1 There are no financial implications aligned to this report.  The services will be funded 
through access to the Social Care Workforce Development Grant (as set out in the 
financial protocol in schedule 4 of the attached appendix 1).

8.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

8.1 A Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability Impact assessment has been completed 
and no impacts have been identified.

9.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

9.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR LINDA MATTHEWS
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Option Appraisal 

SCWDP Grant Application 2015/2016

Regional SCWDP Proposal

June 2015

May 2015

October 2015

Jon Day

Jon Day

Jon Day

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 28



Appendix 1

DATED 1st April 2016

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

and

RHONDDA CYNON TAFF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

(Each a ‘Party’ and together ’the Parties’ to this Agreement)

AGREEMENT

FOR THE PROVISION OF A JOINT CWM TAF SOCIAL CARE WORKFORCE 
DEVELOPMENT SERVICE

Page 29



THIS AGREEMENT is made the first day of April 2016 BETWEEN MERTHYR 

TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL of Civic Centre, Castle Street, 

Merthyr Tydfil, CF47 8AN (“Merthyr”) and RHONDDA CYNON TAFF COUNTY 

BOROUGH COUNCIL of The Pavilions, Cambrian Park, Clydach Vale, 

Tonypandy, CF40 2XX (“RCT”) (hereinafter called “the Parties”)

WHEREAS

i) Ultimate responsibility for social care workforce development within RCT 

and Merthyr lies with the appointed and designated Director of Social 

Services (for the purposes of the Local Authority Social Services Act 

1970). This function is currently undertaken by the Social Care 

Workforce Development Service within each Party.

ii) Each Party’s Social Care Workforce Development Service is responsible 

for improving  the quality and management of Social care provision 

through planning and arranging learning  development and qualification 

opportunities for the Local Authority, Independent and Third sector social 

care workforce, with consideration of the priorities specified in the annual 

circular for the Social Care Workforce Development Grant . 

iii) In order to better co-ordinate the provision of such functions and 

responsibilities the Parties have agreed to establish a joint Social Care 

Workforce Development Service to be known as the “Cwm Taf Social 

Care Workforce Development Service”. 

iv) This Agreement provides for the establishment of the Cwm Taf Social 

Care Workforce Development Service which will provide the functions as 

set out in Schedule 1 on behalf of the Parties.  

v) Host Services support for the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service will be provided by RCT.

Page 30



vi) The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Management 

Board will provide the strategic direction with the aim of improving the 

quality and management of social care provision through a planned 

approach to learning development and qualifying programmes and by 

seeking to increase the take-up of this provision across the social care 

sector.

vii) The Parties have each passed the necessary resolutions for the 

purposes of entering into this Agreement.  

OPERATIVE PROVISIONS 

1. INTERPRETATION 

1.1 In this Agreement:

1.1.1 “s151 Officer” means each Party’s Chief Financial Officer (as defined by 

section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972);

1.1.2 “Accounts Date” means 1st April 2016;

1.1.3 “Agreement” means this agreement including the Schedules; 

1.1.4 “Commencement Date” means 1st April 2016;

1.1.5 “Staffing Information” means staffing Information regarding the 

Employees;

1.1.6 “Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service” means the 

functions to be provided to the Parties as set out in Schedule 1 by the 

Staff under the direction of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service Manager;

1.1.7 “Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Management 

Board” means a board comprising of those members set out in Schedule 

2. The board shall operate as set out in Schedule 2;

Page 31



1.1.8  “Demand” means  any action, award, claim or other legal recourse, 

complaint, cost, debt, demand, expense, fine, liability, loss, outgoing, 

penalty or proceeding made pursuant to clause 4, clause 6 or Schedule 

3B;

1.1.9 “Disclosed” means fairly disclosed (with sufficient explanation and detail 

to identify clearly the nature of the matters disclosed) in the Disclosure 

Letter;

1.1.10 “Employees” means the persons wholly or mainly employed by Merthyr 

in the Merthyr Social Care Workforce Development Service at the TUPE 

Transfer Date (which at that date consists of those persons whose 

details are set out in Schedule 3A (the Employees);

1.1.11 “Financial Contributions” means the financial contributions to be made by 

each of the Parties for the provision of the Host Services and the Cwm 

Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service in accordance with 

Clause 8 and the Financial Protocol;

1.1.12 “Financial Protocol” means the protocol set out in Schedule 4;

1.1.13 “Host” means RCT;

1.1.14 “Host Services” means the provision by the Host of all support services 

(save for the day to day administration undertaken by Staff in accordance 

with their duties) required by the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service including but not limited to Financial (Accounts, 

Payroll, Creditors, Debtors, Insurance) Human Resources, Health and 

Safety, Legal, ICT, Estates, PR/Marketing, Information Management, 

Internal Audit and Procurement;

1.1.15 “Information Sharing Framework” means the framework set out in 

Schedule 6;

Page 32



1.1.16  “Indemnity” means a full (unlimited) indemnity provided by Merthyr to 

RCT in respect of any Demand made by an Employee, any employee 

other than an Employee or any third party; 

1.1.17 “Staff” means the staff required to provide the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Service; 

1.1.18 “Taxation or Tax” means all forms of taxation and statutory, 

governmental, state, federal, provincial, local, government or municipal 

charges, duties, imposts, contributions, levies, withholdings or liabilities 

wherever chargeable and whether of the UK or any other jurisdiction; and 

any penalty, fine, surcharge, interest, charges or costs relating thereto;

1.1.19 “TULRCA” means the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) 

Act 1992;

1.1.20 “TUPE” means the Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) 

Regulations 2006 as amended by the Collective Redundancies and 

Transfer of Undertakings (Protection of Employment) (Amendment) 

Regulations 2014;

1.1.21 “TUPE Transfer Date” means 1st April 2016; and

1.1.22 “Warranties” means the warranties set out in clause 6, 13 and Schedule 

3B.

1.2 Clause headings in this Agreement are for convenience only and shall 

have no contractual effect.  

1.3 Any reference to a Clause is a reference to a Clause of this Agreement.  

1.4 Any reference to a Schedule is a reference to a Schedule to this 

Agreement.  

1.5 Words importing one gender shall include the other genders and words 

importing the singular include the plural and vice-versa.  

Page 33



1.6 Reference to “individual” or “person” shall include bodies corporate, 

unincorporated associations and partnerships.  

1.7 Any reference to any enactment or statutory instrument shall be deemed 

to include reference to such enactment or statutory instrument as re-

enacted amended or extended.  

1.8 An obligation not to do or omit to do something shall be deemed to 

include an obligation not to permit or (so far as is reasonably practicable) 

suffer that thing to be done or omitted to be done.  

1.9 An obligation to do something shall include an obligation to seek to 

procure that it is done.  

2. CO-OPERATION AND DISCUSSION 

2.1 This Agreement is entered into on the basis that the Parties will work on 

a basis of co-operation and will arrange to discuss with each other as 

soon as possible any problems or disputes which arise and will attempt 

to resolve any difficulties through negotiation at an early stage and to 

make themselves available with reasonable notice to discuss the issues 

under dispute.  

3. AGREEMENT 

3.1 This Agreement is made under the powers conferred by Section 101 and 

111 of the Local Government Act 1972, Section 25 of the Local 

Government Wales Act 1994, the Local Authorities (Goods and Services) 

Act 1970 and Sections 2, 19 and 20 of the Local Government Act 2000 

and all other enabling powers now vested in the Parties.  

3.2 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Management 

Board will provide the strategic direction to the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Page 34



Workforce Development Service and shall have the terms of reference 

set out in Schedule 2.

4. TERM AND TERMINATION 

4.1 The initial term of this Agreement will begin on the Commencement Date 

and end on the first anniversary of the Commencement Date (the ‘Initial 

Term’). 

4.2 If either Party does not wish to continue with the Agreement at the end of 

the Initial Term it must give at least [3] months notice in writing prior to 

end of the Initial Term of its intention to the other Party.

4.3 Following the Initial Term, and if no Party has given notice of its intention 

not to continue with the Agreement in accordance with clause 4.2 above 

this Agreement shall automatically renew for successive 2 year terms 

(each 2 year term known as a ‘Renewal Term’),  unless terminated 

earlier in accordance with clause 4.4 below.

4.4 Unless mutually agreed by both Parties, any Party proposing to withdraw 

from this Agreement following the expiration of the Initial Term and 

during any Renewal Term must notify the other Party by giving not less 

than 6 months notice in writing of its intention to withdraw expiring on 31st 

March in any given year.  

4.5 Any Party withdrawing from this Agreement irrespective of whether 

notice has been issued in accordance with the terms of this Agreement 

shall remain liable in accordance with the apportionments set out in 

Clause 8, for any financial or other obligation or liability (actual or 

Page 35



contingent) incurred during the period as a Party to this Agreement in 

respect of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service.

4.6 Assets and liabilities of the Parties at termination shall be apportioned on 

the basis set out in Clause 8.  

5. CWM TAF SOCIAL CARE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT SERVICE 

5.1 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service will be 

provided to both parties within the Parties’ areas. 

6. STAFFING

6.1 The Parties agree that the creation of the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Service pursuant to this Agreement will 

constitute a relevant transfer for the purposes of TUPE and, accordingly, 

that it will not operate so as to terminate the contracts of employment of 

any of the Employees.  Such contracts shall be transferred to RCT 

pursuant to TUPE with effect from the TUPE Transfer Date.

6.2 Merthyr undertakes to RCT:

6.2.1 that it has complied with, and shall up to and including the  TUPE 

Transfer Date, comply with all of its obligations and those of any of its 

predecessors (whether or not legally binding or in respect of which it 

would be expected to comply by any regulatory or other body to which it 

is subject) due to or in connection with the Employees or any body 

representing them (or any of the said obligations Merthyr would have had 

under or in connection with such contracts but for TUPE);

6.2.2 that it has paid and shall pay all sums due to or in relation to the 

Employees up to and including the TUPE Transfer Date (whether arising 

under common law, statute, equity or otherwise) including without 

Page 36



limitation all salaries, wages, bonus or commission, all statutory 

contributions, holiday pay (including payment for accrued but untaken 

holiday), expenses, National Insurance and pension contributions made 

to or on behalf of the employee, liability to Taxation (including all income 

tax deductible under PAYE) and other employment costs (such as the 

provision of non-pecuniary benefits) payable in respect of any period up 

to the TUPE Transfer Date;

6.2.3 that it has complied, and shall comply in all respects, with its obligations 

under regulation 11 of TUPE and that in good time before the TUPE 

Transfer Date, and in any event at least 28 days in advance of the 

Commencement Date provide Staffing Information to RCT. Where 

Merthyr becomes aware of any changes to the  Staffing Information it will 

notify RCT in writing within seven days of becoming aware of any such 

change;

6.2.4 that there are no sums owing to or from any Employee other than 

reimbursement of expenses for the current month and wages for the 

current salary period (which will be paid in accordance with clause 6.2.2);

6.2.5 that it has complied and shall comply in all respects with regulation 13 of 

TUPE and Part IV of TURLCA and that it has provided and shall provide 

to RCT such information as RCT may request in writing in order to verify 

such compliance:

6.2.6 that it has not terminated and shall not terminate or take any steps to 

terminate (constructively or otherwise) the employment of any of the 

Employees (without the prior written consent of the RCT);

Page 37



6.2.7 that it will not employ, engage or transfer any person who is not an 

Employee to work in the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 

Service without the prior written consent of RCT; and

6.2.8 to provide an Indemnity to RCT against Demands (including legal and 

other professional fees and expenses) which RCT or any third party 

supplier may suffer, sustain, incur, pay or be put to arising from or in 

connection with;

(i) any breach by Merthyr of the Warranties contained in Schedule 3B 

to this Agreement; 

(ii) any failure by Merthyr to comply with its obligations under this 

clause 6.2; or

(iii) the employment of the Employees or the termination of their 

employment by Merthyr on or before the TUPE Transfer Date;

(iv) any failure by Merthyr on or before the TUPE Transfer Date to 

comply with its legal obligations in respect of any of the 

Employees: or

(v) the transfer to RCT, by virtue of TUPE, of the employment of any 

employee of Merthyr other than the Employees; or 

(vi) any act or omission before the TUPE Transfer Date which, by 

virtue of TUPE, is deemed to be an act or omission of RCT; or

(vii) any liability arising from Merthyr’s failure to comply with its 

obligations under regulation 13 of TUPE.

Page 38



6.3 If any contract of employment or engagement or collective agreement not 

Disclosed to RCT has effect as if originally made between RCT and any 

person or body or their representatives as a result of the provisions of 

TUPE or otherwise:

(i) RCT may terminate such contract or agreement; and

(ii) Merthyr shall provide the Indemnity and hold RCT harmless 

against all Demands (including any liability to Taxation and legal 

and other professional fees and expenses) that RCT may suffer, 

incur, sustain, pay or be put to:

(a)  by reason of, on account of or arising out of such termination; 

or

(b)  arising from such contract or collective agreement before the 

TUPE Transfer Date, if RCT does not terminate such contract 

or collective agreement.

6.4 RCT undertakes that it shall:

(i) comply with its obligations arising out of or in connection with any 

Employee’s employment;

(ii) perform and observe all of its obligations arising under regulation 

13 of TUPE, including providing Merthyr with such information as 

is necessary in order to allow it to perform its own obligations 

under regulation 13 of TUPE and its obligations arising under 

section 188 of TULRCA; and

Page 39



(iii) provide Merthyr with an indemnity against all Demands (including 

legal and other professional fees and expenses) arising out of or 

in connection with any failure by RCT to comply with its 

obligations under clause 6.4 (i) and clause 6.4 (ii) above or any 

Demand (including legal and other professional fees and 

expenses) arising out any Employee being or ceasing too be an 

employee of RCT after the TUPE Transfer Date.

6.5 Without prejudice to the other provisions of this Clause 6, Merthyr shall, 

at its own reasonable expense, give RCT such assistance as RCT may 

reasonably require to contest any Demand by any person employed or 

engaged by Merthyr at or before the TUPE Transfer Date or their 

representatives resulting from or in connection with this Agreement, 

subject always to Merthyr’s obligations under the DPA 1998.

6.6 Merthyr shall, upon request by RCT and at Merthyr’s reasonable 

expense, and subject always to Merthyr’s obligations under the DPA 

1998, provide to RCT such information or documents as RCT may 

reasonably require relating to the terms of employment, pension and life 

assurance arrangements, health benefits, welfare or any other matter 

concerning any of the Employees or any trade union, employee 

representative or body of employees or their representatives or relating 

to collective agreements or collective or individual grievances in the 

period before the TUPE Transfer Date.

Page 40



6.7 All day to day administration, management and direction of Staff shall be 

undertaken by the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service 

Manager.

6.8 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager 

shall not, and will not require any member of the Staff to do anything that 

shall breach the employment contract of the employee and shall have no 

authority to vary the terms of such employment contract. The Cwm Taf 

Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager shall provide RCT 

with such information and assistance as it may reasonably require to 

carry out its obligations as the employer.

6.9 In accordance with the provisions of Clause 2 of this Agreement the 

Parties will co-operate with each other with regard to any employment 

issues arising from the termination of this Agreement, howsoever arising, 

including, without limitation, looking at reducing the number of 

redundancies wherever possible and complying with employment law 

including policies and procedures with a view to minimising the risk of 

any Demand and other employment law liabilities arising from the 

termination of this Agreement. To the extent that any Demand or other 

employment liabilities arise as a consequence of the termination of this 

Agreement for any reason, these will be dealt with in accordance with 

clauses 8, 10 and 12 of this Agreement.

6.10 Pension 

6.10.1 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service employees 

will be afforded membership of the Local Government Pension Scheme 

within the Local Government Pension Scheme (which is administered by 

Page 41



Rhondda Cynon Taff). All eligible employees engaged in connection with 

the functions carried out by the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service may participate in the Local Government Pension 

Scheme. 

6.10.2 Transfer of previous pension rights will be undertaken in accordance with 

the Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 

2008. 

6.11 An organisational structure chart for the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service (applicable at the Commencement Date) is 

annexed at Schedule 5.

7. HOST SERVICES 

7.1 It is agreed between the Parties that for the purpose of the development 

and operation of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 

Service, the Host shall provide the Host Services and subject to Clause 

7.2 shall have authority as from the Commencement Date to enter into 

any agreement necessary with any third party in respect of the provision 

of Host Services including without prejudice to the generality of the 

foregoing any agreement relating to the purchase and provision of goods 

and services.  Any such agreement for the purchase and provision of 

goods and services would be made in accordance with RCT Contract 

Procedure Rules and RCT Financial Procedure Rules (which require all 

expenditure to be incurred within the agreed budget), the Financial 

Protocol and all relevant legislation. Where any such agreement is for a 

period greater than two years and is for the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Page 42



Workforce Development Service only (rather than having wider 

applicability for RCT) and/or commits the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Service to expenditure (rather than providing a 

mechanism for potential use) then this shall be subject to the approval of 

both Parties’ s151 Officer.

7.2 Where the Host is minded to put in place any agreements with third 

parties relating to the provision of any Host Service it shall first consider 

whether one of the Parties to this Agreement wishes to provide the 

service and, if so, afford such a Party the opportunity to provide that 

service at such cost as agreed by each Party’s s151 Officer. 

7.3 Save as provided in Clause 7.2 above all Host Services shall be provided 

through service level agreements between the Parties. 

8. FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS 

8.1 The financial relationship between the Parties is as set out in the 

Financial Protocol in Schedule 4 and shall apply to the Cwm Taf Social 

Care Workforce Development Service. 

8.2 All contributions and apportionments (including any liabilities and losses 

save as specified in Clause 6) are to be based on those that relate 

specifically to each respective parties ring fenced fund activities, unless 

where such contributions and apportionments are deemed shared.  In 

2016/2017 the Parties ring fenced fund accounts are confirmed as those 

summarised in appendix 1 

Page 43



8.3 Should this Agreement be extended beyond the Initial Term then in 

respect of the funding of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service there shall be a formal review of the funding 

mechanism on an annual basis, the first of which shall be in advance of 

the 2017/18 financial year.  It will be for the Parties’ s151 Officers to 

agree upon a recommendation (for change or stay the same) being made 

to the funding of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 

Service.

8.4 Each Local Authority's s151 officer will determine the treatment of any 

surplus or deficit balance held within respective Parties ring-fenced fund 

account following the completion of the audit of the annual accounts.

8.5  In the event that annual accounts are closed in a deficit position, the 

Parties will be required to make appropriate contributions during the first 

quarter of the subsequent financial year. Contributions required to ‘make 

good’ such a deficit will be those that relate specifically to the ring fenced 

funds for each Local Authority during the year in which the deficit 

occurred.

9. GRANTS

9.1 The process for dealing with grants relating to the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Service is set out in the Financial Protocol at 

Schedule 4. 

Page 44



10.  EXPIRY OF AGREEMENT 

10.1 Upon the termination of this Agreement both Parties’ Chief Executive (in 

consultation with the Parties’ s151 officers) shall agree the distribution of 

assets and any liabilities in accordance with the basis set out in Clause 8 

of this Agreement.  

  

11. ACCESS TO INFORMATION 

11.1 To provide an efficient, safe and high quality service the Cwm Taf Social 

Care Workforce Development Service is dependent upon accurate and 

timely information being exchanged between the Parties.  Such 

information shall only be used by the Host for the provision of the Cwm 

Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service.  Information sharing 

between the Parties shall comply in all respects with all applicable 

legislation (including but not limited to the Data Protection Act 1998) and 

the provisions of the Information Sharing Framework set out in Schedule 

6 (together with any information sharing protocol made thereunder).  

12. INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE 

12.1 Save as provided in Clause 6 and Schedule 3B, and to the extent such 

matters are not covered by the insurance arrangements that the Host is 

required to put in place, the Parties will be jointly liable in accordance 

with Clause 8 for all losses the Host suffers, in relation to all actions, 

proceedings, costs, claims, demands, liabilities, losses and expenses 

howsoever arising out of or in connection with any act or omission by the 

Host in carrying out all or any of the duties and responsibilities of the 

Host and/or implementing the decisions of the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Page 45



Workforce Development Service save where all losses incurred are 

caused by an unauthorised act by the Host.  

12.2 The Host shall ensure that adequate insurance against the risks of cost 

of claims associated with public liability, employer’s liability, property and 

professional indemnity is in place and, the Host shall handle any claims 

as and when received on behalf of the Parties.

12.3 The Host shall notify the Parties within 10 working days of any such 

claims.

12.4 The provisions of this Clause 12 shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement.  

12.5 Where pursuant to Clause 7.2 of this Agreement one of the Parties to this 

Agreement is providing any part of the Host Services then the provisions 

of this Clause 12 shall apply mutatis mutandis. 

13. WARRANTIES

13.1 RCT enters into this Agreement on the basis of, and in reliance on, the 

Warranties.

13.2 Merthyr warrants to RCT that each of the warranties is true and accurate 

in all material respect and not misleading except as Disclosed.

13.3 Warranties given “so far as Merthyr is aware or should reasonably have 

been aware” are deemed to be given to the best of the knowledge 

Page 46



information and belief of Merthyr after it has made the reasonable 

enquiries.

13.4 No claim shall be made under the warranties against Merthyr unless RCT 

shall have given to Merthyr bona fide written notice of such claim 

specifying (in sufficient detail to enable Merthyr to fully consider the 

claim) the matter which gives rise to the claim, the nature of the claim 

and a bona fide calculation (showing workings) of the loss alleged to 

have been suffered as soon as reasonably practicable (and in any event 

within five business days) after RCT becomes aware of the matter giving 

rise to such claim and in any event on or before the fist anniversary of the 

date hereof.

13.5 Any claim shall (if it has not been previously satisfied, settled or 

withdrawn) be deemed to have been withdrawn:

13.5.1 on the date falling six months after the date on which it is first notified  to 

RCT or within one month of the expiry of the period for notifying such 

claim set out in clause 6.4 (whichever expires earlier) unless legal 

proceedings in respect of it have been commenced by being both 

properly issued and validly served; or 

13.5.2 if RCT fails to progress such claim as quickly as reasonably possible.

13.6 RCT shall take such reasonable action and give such information and 

assistance (including access to the premises, personnel, chattels, 

Page 47



documents and records of RCT and permitting the copying of any 

documents or records) in connection with the RCT’s affairs as Merthyr 

(and/or its professional advisers) may reasonably request in writing to 

investigate and evaluate any Claim, subject always to Merthyr’s 

obligations under the Data Protection Act 1998.

14. VARIATION 

14.1 Save as provided herein this Agreement cannot be varied without the 

approval of and prior written consent of both parties.   Any variation is to 

be signed and sealed by an authorised representative of each Party and 

will be annexed to this Agreement.  

15. COMMUNICATION 

15.1 Any communication required to be in writing under the terms of this 

Agreement shall be sent to each Party at the addresses set out in Clause 

15.2 and marked for the attention of the person last notified in writing to 

the other Parties as being the person to receive communications for the 

purpose of this Agreement on behalf of that Party. 

15.2 Any notice or communication to the relevant Party shall be deemed 

effectively served if sent by first class post or delivered by hand to the 

addressee set out below or such other addressee and address notified in 

writing from time to time to the other Parties: - .

Page 48



Chief Executive

Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 

The Pavilions

Cambrian Park

Clydach Vale

Tonypandy

CF40 2XX

Chief Executive

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 

Civic Centre

Castle Street

Merthyr Tydfil

CF47 8AN

15.3 Any notice service by delivery shall be deemed to have been served on 

the date it is delivered to the addressee.  Where notice is posted it shall 

be sufficient to prove that the notice was properly addressed and posted 

and the addressee shall be deemed to have been served with the notice 

48 hours after the time it was posted.

16.   THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 

16.1 Save as may be provided herein the Parties to this Agreement do not 

intend any provision of it to be enforceable by any other person pursuant 

to the Contract (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.  

17.   SEVERANCE 

17.1 If at any time any provision of this Agreement is found by any court, 

tribunal or administrative body of competent jurisdiction to be wholly or 

partly illegal invalid or unenforceable in any respect provided that it would 

Page 49



not affect or impair the legality, validity or enforceability of any other 

provision of this Agreement, this Agreement shall continue in full force 

and effect as if the Agreement had been executed with the invalid 

provision eliminated except where it deprives one of the Parties of a 

substantial part of the benefit to be derived by it from this Agreement 

without providing any corresponding benefit.  

17.2 If Clause 17.1 shall apply the Parties shall in good faith amend and, if 

necessary, execute such further assurances in relation to this Agreement 

to reflect as nearly as possible the spirit and intention behind that illegal, 

invalid or unenforceable provision to the extent that such spirit and 

intention is consistent with the laws of that jurisdiction and so that the 

amended clause complies with the laws of that jurisdiction but if the 

Parties cannot agree upon the terms of any amendment or assurance 

within six months of the date upon which the provision was determined to 

be wholly or partly illegal or unenforceable by any court, tribunal 

administrative body then the dispute will be determined in accordance 

with Clause 18 hereof.  

18. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

18.1 If there is a dispute between the Parties concerning the interpretation or 

operation of this Agreement then any Party may notify the others in 

writing that it wishes the dispute to be referred to a meeting of the 

Parties’ Group Directors (with responsibility for Children’s Services) to 

resolve.  

Page 50



18.2 If after the meeting of the Parties’ Group Directors (with responsibility for 

Children’s Services) the dispute has not been resolved, any Party may 

refer the dispute to the Parties’ Chief Executives for resolution. 

18.3 If the Chief Executives are unable to resolve the dispute by unanimous 

agreement within a period of 28 days of the matter being referred to them 

either Party may refer the matter to mediation.  The Parties will attempt to 

settle the dispute by mediation in accordance with the Centre for 

Effective Dispute Resolution (CEDR) Model Mediation Procedure. Unless 

otherwise agreed between the Parties, the mediator will be nominated by 

CEDR.

18.4 If the matter cannot be resolved by mediation either Party may refer the 

matter to arbitration on the following basis:

18.4.1  Referral shall be to a single Arbitrator selected by the Parties Chief 

Executives or, in the absence of agreement, to be nominated by the 

President of the Chartered Institute of Arbitration.  

18.4.2 Such arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with the provisions of 

the Arbitration Act 1996 and the Arbitrator appointed shall have the 

power to:

18.4.3 Order and direct what he or she shall think to be done by any of the 

Parties respectively in relation to the matters in dispute; 

18.4.4 The decision of the Arbitrator shall be final and binding on all the Parties. 

18.4.5  Unless otherwise agreed or specified in the arbitration terms each Party 

shall bear its own costs incurred in the arbitration and the Parties shall 

share equally the Arbitrator’s costs and expenses. 

  

Page 51



19. WAIVER 

19.1 No term or provision of this Agreement shall be considered as waived by 

any Party unless a waiver is given in writing by the Party and any failure 

by any of the Parties at any time to enforce any provision of this 

Agreement or to require performance by any of the other Parties of any 

of the provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed as a waiver of 

any such provision and shall not affect the validity of this Agreement or 

any part thereof or the right of any Parties to enforce any provision in 

accordance with its terms.  

19.2 No waiver under Clause 19.1 shall be a waiver of a past or future or 

breach, nor shall it amend delete or add to the terms conditions or 

provisions of this Agreement unless (and then only to the extent) 

expressly stated in the waiver.  

20. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 

20.1 The Parties agree that they will each co-operate with one another to 

enable any Party receiving a request for information under the Freedom 

of Information Act 2000 and/or Environmental Information Regulations 

2004 to respond to that request promptly and within the statutory 

timescales. This co-operation shall include but not be limited to finding, 

retrieving and supplying information held, and directing requests to other 

Parties as appropriate and responding to any requests by any Party 

receiving a request for comments or other assistance.  

Page 52



21. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

21.1   This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in all respects in 

accordance with the laws of England and Wales.  

21.2 The COMMON SEAL of the respective Parties were affixed the day and 

year first before written:  

The COMMON SEAL of MERTHYR TYDFIL )

COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL )

Was affixed in the presence of: )

Designation……………………………………………………..

The COMMON SEAL of RHONDDA CYNON )

TAFF COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL   )

Was hereunto affixed in the presence of:   )

Designation……………………………………………………..

Page 53



SCHEDULE 1

THE CWM TAF SOCIAL CARE WORKFORCE 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICE FUNCTIONS 

1. The broad aim of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 

Service is to improve the quality and management of social care 

provision through a planned approach to learning, development and 

qualification and by seeking to increase the take-up of this provision 

across the social care sector.

2. The objectives of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 

Service are:

2.1 to increase the proportion of staff across the whole social care sector 

with the qualifications, skills and knowledge they need for the work they 

do; and

2.2 to achieve the above through the Social Care Workforce Development 

Partnerships led by the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 

Service and informed by the commissioners of services within both 

Merthyr and RCT;

3. The specific arrangements for the Social Care Workforce Development 

Programme (SCWDP) are set annually by the Welsh Government in their 

Social Care Workforce Development Circular that announces grant 

allocations and invites application for Grant on behalf of their Social Care 

Workforce Development Partnership. 

Page 54



4. The annual Welsh Government circular details the requirements to be 

met by Directors of Social Services on behalf of their Partnerships to 

draw down the SCWDP grant. This is in conjunction with ‘Planning for 

Training and Staff Development across the Social Care Sector (2003)’, 

which at the Commencement Date is the key guidance document to 

inform how Social Care Workforce Development Partnerships draw up 

effective training and staff development arrangements. 

Page 55



SCHEDULE 2

THE CWM TAF SOCIAL CARE WORKFORCE 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICE 

 MANAGEMENT BOARD

1. Purpose of the Management Board 

The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development service Management 

Board will be formed with the broad aim to improve the quality and 

management of social care provision through a planned approach to 

learning, development and qualification and by seeking to increase the 

take-up of this provision  across the social care sector and oversee the 

Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service.

2. Membership

2.1 The Cwm Taf Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service 

Management Board shall have the following membership:

 Director of Social Services (RCT)

 Director of Social Services (Merthyr Tydfil)

 Finance Officer (RCT)

 Finance Officer (Merthyr Tydfil)

 Head of Transformation (RCT)Human Resources officer RCT)

 Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager

Page 56



2.2 The partner organisations can nominate a substitute, providing the 

named person is directly accountable to the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Management Board member and able to make 

decisions on their respective Party’s behalf within the Management 

Board’s terms of reference.

3. Chair 

The Chair of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service 

Management Board will be an appointed member on rotation between 

the two Local authorities on an annual basis. 

4. Meetings and Procedure 

The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Management 

Board shall hold quarterly meetings in each municipal year.

5. Minutes of Meetings 

 Minutes of the proceedings of every meeting of the Cwm Taf Social 

Care Workforce Development Service Management Board shall be 

drawn up as agreed by the Chair. Copies of the draft minutes of the 

proceedings of every meeting of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service Management Board shall, within two weeks after 

each meeting, be sent to all members of the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Service Management Board.

Page 57



 6. Terms of Reference 

6.1 Provide strategic oversight and direction to the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Service and the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Service Manager.

6.2 Oversee the formulation and implementation of the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Plan.

6.3 Oversee the development of any Workforce Grant applications 

particularly the annual SCWDP Grant.

6.4 Monitor the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service 

performance and provide guidance on areas for improvement.

6.5 Monitor Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service budgets.

6.6 Determine how the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 

Service is to be composed and funded, how it is to operate and what 

functions it is to carry out.

Page 58



Schedule 3A
The Employees

To be agreed.

Page 59



SCHEDULE 3B   
WARRANTIES

1. CHANGES SINCE THE ACCOUNTS DATE

Since the Accounts Date, no changes have been made in the terms of 

employment, benefits or conditions of service of any Employee or to 

benefits provided to any person engaged to any extent in the Merthyr 

Social Care Workforce Development Service (now or in the past) or any 

dependants of such person or to the terms of any agreement or 

arrangement (whether written or unwritten and whether binding or not) 

with any trade union, employee representative or body of employees or 

their representatives.

2. EMPLOYEES

2.1 No person is employed or engaged in the Merthyr Social Care Workforce 

Development Service (whether temporarily or permanently and whether 

under a contract of service or contract for services) other than the 

Employees, and the Employees are all employed by Merthyr and work 

wholly or mainly in the Merthyr Social Care Workforce Development 

Service.

2.2 Merthyr has Disclosed:

(a) copies of all service contracts and contracts for services and all 

handbooks, policies and other documents which apply to the 

Employees (whether binding or not), identifying which applies to 

which employee;

Page 60



(b) full particulars of the current terms of employment or engagement and 

benefits of all Employees, whether or not recorded in writing, or 

implied by custom or practice or otherwise;

(c) all information required by law to be included in particulars of terms of 

employment, including date of birth, date of commencement of 

continuous employment, job title, current remuneration, bonuses, 

commission, pension schemes or pension rights and benefits;

(d) details of all remuneration and benefits which the Employees or their 

dependants receive or are entitled to receive (now or in the future), 

including any non contractual benefits that may have become implied 

into the particulars of terms of employment by reason of custom and 

practice; and

(e) copies of all agreements or arrangements with any trade union, 

employee representative or body of employees or their 

representatives (whether binding or not) and details of any such 

unwritten agreements or arrangements which may affect the 

Employees.

So far as Merthyr is aware or should reasonably have been aware all 

such particulars are accurate and complete in all respects.

Page 61



2.3 Merthyr has provided RCT with the information required under regulation 

11 to TUPE in relation to each of the Employees and shall notify RCT of 

any changes in that information before the TUPE Transfer Date or in 

accordance with Clause 6.2.3 of this Agreement.

2.4 So far as Merthyr is aware or should reasonably have been aware in 

respect of each of the Employees, Merthyr has:

(a) performed all obligations and duties required to be performed by it 

(and has settled all outstanding Demands), whether arising under 

contract, statute, at common law or in equity or under any treaties 

including the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union, the 

laws of European Union or otherwise;

(b) abided by the terms of any agreement or arrangement with any trade 

union, employee representative or body of employees or their 

representatives (whether binding or not) which may affect the 

Employees;

(c) fully complied with its obligations under regulation 13 of TUPE and 

section 188 of TULRCA to inform and consult with trade union or 

other employee representatives on any matter concerning or arising 

from this Agreement or affecting the Employees:

(d) maintained adequate, suitable and up to date records relating to the 

Employees; and 

(e) paid or will have paid to HM Revenue & Customs and any other 

appropriate authority all taxes, National Insurance contributions and 

other levies due in respect of the Employees on account of their 

employment by Merthyr up to and including the TUPE Transfer Date.

Page 62



2.5 Merthyr has not made any offer of employment or engagement to work in 

the Merthyr Social Care Workforce Development Service that has not yet 

been accepted or that has been accepted but the employment or 

engagement has not yet started (except to any of the Employees).

2.6 All contracts of service or for services with any of the Employees are 

terminable by Merthyr at any time on three months’ notice or less without 

compensation (other than for unfair dismissal or a statutory redundancy 

payment).  Merthyr has no liability other than for salary, wages, 

commission or pension to or for the benefit of any person who is an 

Employee of the Merthyr Social Care Workforce Development Service. 

2.7 Merthyr has not offered, promised or agreed to any future variation in any 

contract of employment of any one of the Employees or any other person 

employed by Merthyr in respect of whom liability is deemed by TUPE to 

pass to RCT, and no negotiations for an increase in the remuneration or 

benefits of any Employee are current or likely to take place within the 

period of six months after the TUPE Transfer Date.

2.8 So far as Merthyr is aware or should reasonably have been aware, there 

are no enquiries or investigations existing, pending or threatened 

affecting Merthyr or the Merthyr Social Care Workforce Development 

Service by the Equality and Human Rights Commission, the Health and 

Safety Executive or other similar bodies, nor are there any facts which 

might give rise to such enquiries or investigations.

Page 63



2.9 So far as Merthyr is aware or should reasonably have been aware there 

are no terms under which the Employees are employed, and nothing 

took place before the TUPE Transfer Date, which could give rise to any 

claim for unlawful discrimination or unequal pay.

2.10 Unless otherwise stipulated in Schedule 3A, no Employee:

(a) has given or received notice to terminate their employment or 

engagement and so far as Merthyr is aware or should reasonably 

have been aware, no Employee is entitled or intends or is likely to 

terminate such employment or engagement as a result of the parties 

entering into this Agreement; or

(b) save as Disclosed, is on secondment, maternity or other statutory 

leave or otherwise absent from work; or

(c) is subject to a current disciplinary warning or procedure; or

(d) has objected or indicated an objection to the transfer of the Merthyr 

Social Care Workforce Development Service to RCT; or 

(e) has any entitlement to any accrued but unused holiday from previous 

holiday years, or has taken holiday in excess of their accrued 

entitlement as at the TUPE Transfer Date.

2.11 Except for the Pension Scheme, Merthyr is not under any legal liability or 

other obligation to pay bonuses, pensions, gratuities, superannuation, 

allowances or any similar payment to any of the Employees or their 

dependants, nor is it a party to any arrangements or promise to make or 

in the habit of making ex gratia or voluntary payments on redundancies 

or payments by way of bonus, pension gratuity, superannuation, 

Page 64



allowance or similar payments to any such persons.  Except for the 

Pension Scheme, there are no schemes or arrangements (whether 

legally enforceable or not) for payment of retirement, pension, disability, 

or death benefit or similar schemes or arrangements in operation or 

contemplated in respect of any of the Employees or their dependants, or 

persons formerly employed or engaged in the Merthyr Social care 

workforce development service or their dependants, under which RCT or 

any of the owners for the time being of the Merthyr Social care workforce 

development service or any part of them may become liable to make 

payments or to provide equivalent benefits.

2.12 There is not in existence, and Merthyr has not proposed and is not 

proposing to introduce, any bonus, commission or profit-sharing scheme 

or any other scheme or arrangement under which the Employees are or 

would be entitled to participate in the profits of the Merthyr Social Care 

Workforce Development Service.

2.13 So far as Merthyr is aware or should reasonably have been aware there 

are no amounts outstanding or promised to any of the Employees, and 

no liability has been incurred by Merthyr which remains undischarged for 

breach of any employment contract; or redundancy payments (statutory 

or otherwise, including protective awards); or compensation under any 

employment legislation or regulations; or wrongful dismissal, unfair 

dismissal, equal pay, sex, race or disability discrimination or otherwise.  

No order has been made at any time for the reinstatement or re-

engagement of any of the Employees or any person formerly employed 

Page 65



or engaged or working in the Merthyr Social Care Workforce 

Development Service.

2.14 Merthyr is not engaged or involved in any dispute, claim or legal 

proceedings (whether arising under contract, common law, statute or in 

equity) with any of the Employees or any other person currently or 

previously employed by or engaged in the Merthyr Social Care 

Workforce Development Service or their dependants and, so far as 

Merthyr is aware, there is no event which could give rise to such dispute, 

claim or proceedings.

2.15 With respect to labour relations:

Merthyr has Disclosed all collective bargaining, procedural or other 

agreements or arrangements (whether in writing, oral or by custom and 

practice and whether binding or not) in existence relating to or relevant to 

any of the Employees and the current state of any negotiations with any 

trade union or other organisation of employees or their representatives 

which might affect the terms of employment or working arrangements or 

severance payments of any of the Employees;

2.16 In the period of three years preceding the date of this Agreement, 

Merthyr has not (nor has any predecessor or owner of any part of the 

Merthyr Social Care Workforce Development Service) been a party to 

any relevant transfer for the purposes of TUPE affecting any of the 

Employees or any other persons engaged in the Merthyr Social Care 

Workforce Development Service and no event has occurred which may 

Page 66



involve such persons in the future being a party to such a transfer.  No 

such persons have had their terms of employment varied for any reason 

as a result of or connected with such a transfer.

Page 67



SCHEDULE 4
FINANCIAL PROTOCOL

1. This Financial Protocol governs the financial relationship between the 

Parties.

2. Fund Arrangements

2.1 The Host will provide the financial / administrative / accounting systems 

and associated support for the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service.

2.2 Each Party will contribute those Financial Contributions as are identified 

in sections 3 and 5 (below) effective on the Commencement Date or on a 

pro-rata basis in the event of any delay. The Financial Contributions shall 

together be known as ‘the Fund’ and for the period of this agreement 

respective partner contributions shall remain ring fenced for use solely by 

the Party to which the funding relates.

2.3 The Fund will be managed by the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service Manager under the direction of the Cwm Taf Social 

Care Workforce Development Service Management Board. Regular 

reports will be provided to the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service Management Board and made available to the 

Parties’ s151 Officers. These reports will include details of the Fund’s 

annual budget, spend incurred to date, anticipated annual spend, 

variance to budget and an analysis of any variance.

Page 68



3. CONTRIBUTION AND CHARGING MECHANISM

3.1 To ensure that all costs incurred by the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service are recovered, the following contribution and 

charging mechanism has been established, it should be noted that this 

mechanism will be subject to annual review.

3.2 The Parties’ financial contributions for Year 1 will be based on existing 

estimated budget allocations, the proportion of which is ring fenced for 

each Local Authority is shown as per below:

Estimated Budget 2016/17 

 
RCTCBC MTCBC Total 

Cwm Taf

Local Authority Core Expenditure Budget 513,458 69,470 582,928 
SCWDP (Grant Funded) Expenditure Budget 555,870 173,473 729,343 
SCWDP (LA Core 30% Match Funding) Expenditure Budget 238,230 74,346 312,576 
Less SCDWP Grant Income -555,870 -173,473 -729,343 

Net LA Core Funding Budget 2016/17 751,688 143,816 895,504 
    
Other grant funding    
    
PLOF (Grant Funded) Expenditure Budget 100,792 17,900 118,692 
Less PLOF Grant Income -100,792 -17,900 -118,692 
Net PLOF Budget 2016/17 0 0 0

Note: Budget and Grant allocations for 2016/17 shown above are indicative pending 
confirmation of final budget settlement.

3.3 The Financial Contributions will be made to the Host in quarterly 

installments (invoiced in advance).

Page 69



3.4 Charges made for goods and services relating to the functions and/or 

Host Services of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 

Servicefrom any Party will be made by means of official invoice based on 

actual costs incurred, submitted to and paid by the Host quarterly in 

arrears. Official Invoices should include appropriate supporting evidence 

of costs incurred (e.g. Transaction listing or Copy Invoices).

3.5 Charges made for goods and services relating to the functions and/or 

Host Services of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 

Service from any other company or external organisation other than the 

Parties will be submitted to and paid by the Host in accordance to the 

stipulated contract and payment terms.

4. GENERAL PRINCIPLES

4.1 Changes in service delivery that lead to a variation in the functions of the 

Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service must only be 

made with prior approval from the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service Management Board.

4.2  The Fund shall not inherit any debt or liability incurred by any of the 

Parties prior to the Commencement Date.

4.3 Any additional funding streams targeted at the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Service must be considered by the Cwm Taf 

Social Care Workforce Development Service Management Board. 

Page 70



Permission to accept, expend or commit any monies from any new 

funding streams must be granted by the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service Management Board and the Host’s s151 Officer. It 

shall be the responsibility of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service Manager or respective Party to bring such 

additional funding streams to the attention of the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Service Management Board. 

4.4 Where appropriate and agreed by both parties the fund will facilitate 

jointly commissioned services. The costs of such services will be shared 

on a fair and equitable basis and charged to respective ring-fenced fund 

accounts retained by each Party. Such inter fund charges will require 

authorisation from the designated lead officer for each Party.

4.5 Budgets within the Fund will follow the Service Reporting Code of 

Practice (SERCOP) and be routinely monitored by the Cwm Taf Social 

Care Workforce Development Service Manager. This financial 

performance will be reported to the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service Management Board and made available to the 

Parties’ s151 Officers on a quarterly basis in line with scheduled Cwm 

Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Management Board 

meetings.

 

Page 71



5. ANTICIPATED COST OF THE CWM TAF SOCIAL CARE WORKFORCE 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICE DURING THE PERIOD OF THE 

AGREEMENT 

5.1 The anticipated value of ‘cash’ contributions required to fund the 

operation of Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service 

during the Initial Term (based on initial service delivery plans) is shown 

below:

Estimated Budget 2016/17 

 
RCTCBC MTCBC Total 

Cwm Taf

Local Authority Core Expenditure Budget 513,458 69,470 582,928 
SCWDP (Grant Funded) Expenditure Budget 555,870 173,473 729,343 
SCWDP (LA Core 30% Match Funding) Expenditure Budget 238,230 74,346 312,576 
Less SCDWP Grant Income -555,870 -173,473 -729,343 

Net LA Core Funding Budget 2016/17 751,688 143,816 895,504 
    
Other grant funding    
    
PLOF (Grant Funded) Expenditure Budget 100,792 17,900 118,692 
Less PLOF Grant Income -100,792 -17,900 -118,692 
Net PLOF Budget 2016/17 0 0 0

Note: Budget and Grant allocations for 2016/17 shown above are indicative pending 
confirmation of final budget settlement.

5.2 A detailed summary of pooled income and expenditure budgets for year 

1 along with the apportionment of the net pool contribution required is 

shown in appendix 1 to this Schedule.

5.3 The level of contribution required from each Party in its first year has 

been based on existing core funding and grant funding allocations as 

agreed and confirmed by the Parties.

Page 72



6. PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

6.1 The Parties shall be invoiced quarterly in advance by means of official 

invoice from the Host as per contribution and charging mechanism 

above.

6.2 Payments shall be made in accordance with the Host’s standard credit 

terms (i.e. 28 days)

6.3 Any late payment may invoke interest charges at the discretion of the 

Host organisation.  Any charge of interest will be applied on a daily basis 

at the Bank of England base rate + 1 % from the due date of payment to 

the actual date of receipt.

7. HOSTING AND ADMINISTRATION OF CONTRIBUTIONS

7.1 The Financial Procedure Rules and Contract Procedure Rules of the 

Host shall apply to all contributions received from the Parties.

7.2 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager 

shall ensure that the finances are maintained to national and professional 

standards and that the payment of supplier’s invoices complies with their 

payment terms, ensuring that no late payment charges are incurred. 

7.3 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager 

shall be responsible for ensuring that appropriate financial systems are 

Page 73



operational and in place in order to provide the necessary control and 

production of financial information. 

8. INFORMATION REQUIREMENTS

8.1 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager 

shall ensure that all financial and other information required by the 

Parties in relation to compiling performance statistics, statutory and other 

returns is made available by any relevant deadlines.

8.2 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager 

shall ensure that all financial and other information required to measure 

performance against the functions of the Cwm Taf Workforce 

Development Unit, as set out in this Agreement, is made available by any 

relevant deadlines.

8.3 The Cwm Taf Workforce Development Manager shall make available all 

financial and other information as requested by the Parties’ s151 

Officers.

9. GRANTS

9.1 The Host will act as ‘banker authority’ for receipt of any grant relating to 

the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service, and under 

the terms of the grant agreements will be responsible for accepting the 

terms and conditions of the grant on behalf of the Cwm Taf social care 

workforce development service 

Page 74



9.2 Where grants can only be awarded directly to a party then that party is 

required to passport the total value of the grant within 28 days of its 

receipt to the Host for inclusion within the Fund.

9.3  For the avoidance of doubt the day to day management of the grants 

shall be the responsibility of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service and the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service Manager.

9.4    The apportionment basis of each grant will be considered and agreed by 

both Parties’ s151 Officers.

9.5 Where new grant opportunities are identified, the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development service Manager or the relevant Party(s), as 

appropriate shall be responsible for bringing this to the attention of the 

Parties’ s151 Officers. The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service Manager shall be responsible for the completion of 

grant claims to the appropriate standard, within the required timescales 

and in accordance with the Host’s procedures (unless specifically agreed 

otherwise by the Board). The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service Manager shall liaise with the relevant Parties s151 

Officer, as required, to complete this task.

9.6 When new grants are made known in respect of the functions the Cwm 

Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager in liaison with 

the lead finance officers (responsible for social services) shall draw up 

Page 75



spending plans for such grants along with an appropriate exit strategy, 

for approval by the Parties’ s151 Officers.

9.7 Any redundancy costs arising from the either cessation or reduction of 

grant funding shall be borne by the Local Authority in which the grant has 

been awarded to. Where such costs relate to a joint funded post then 

costs will be shared in proportion to grant allocations awarded to each 

Local Authority.

10. FINANCIAL INSOLVENCY

10.1 If it is foreseen that the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 

Service cannot meet its liabilities and the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Service Management Board, and thereafter the 

Parties’ s151 Officers are unable to agree a financial solution, then the 

Parties Chief Executives shall be responsible for ensuring that 

termination procedures are followed.

11. MONITORING AND ROLE OF THE CWM TAF SOCIAL CARE 
WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT SERVICE MANAGER

11.1 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager 

shall prepare a financial monitoring report on a quarterly basis to the 

Parties’ s151 Officers who will in turn review expenditure, commitments 

and forecast outturn to ensure that the allocated budget is being 

appropriately adhered to.

Page 76



11.2 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager 

shall prepare an annual report to be submitted to the Parties’ s151 

Officers at the end of each Financial Year. Such report would include:

i. An annual statement of Income & Expenditure 

ii. An evaluation of performance against any agreed performance 

measures, targets and priorities.

iii. A review of targets and priorities for the forthcoming Financial 

Year.

iv. Summary of Service delivery.

v. Such other information as shall be reasonably required by the 

Parties’ s151 Officers from time to time.

12. BUDGET

12.1 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Management 

Board shall agree the draft Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development service annual budget by the 31st December prior to the 

following financial year and submit it to each of the Parties for approval.

12.2 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager 

shall ensure that there are mechanisms in place to enable budgets to be 

managed in line with the annual budget allocation and that any 

anticipated variation to budget are identified early and reported to the 

Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development service Management 

Board.

Page 77



12.3 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development service is not 

authorised to operate nor budget at a cumulative deficit position. In the 

event that annual accounts are closed in a deficit position, the Parties will 

be required to make appropriate contributions during the first quarter of 

the subsequent financial year. Contributions required to ‘make good’ 

such a deficit will be those that relate specifically to the ring fenced funds 

for each Party during the year in which the deficit occurred.

12.4 In the event of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development service 

Manager monitoring report indicating an overspend, the reasons for the 

increase in expenditure will be investigated and analysed against budget 

by the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager. 

12.5 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager 

must submit a report to the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service Management Board and the Parties’ s151 Officers, 

which details reasons for variation and recommended remedial action. A 

meeting of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service 

Manager and the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service 

Management Board will be held within 28 calendar days of the 

production of this report in order to agree the remedial action as 

necessary. Details of remedial actions agreed by the Cwm Taf Social 

Care Workforce Development Service Management Board should be 

sent to the Parties’ s151 Officers for approval. 

Page 78



12.6 If agreement cannot be reached in respect of the corrective action and 

treatment of budget variations (overspends and underspends) in the 

Fund by the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service 

Management Board the Parties shall follow the dispute procedure as set 

out in Clause 8 of the Agreement.

12.7 Where upon termination of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development Service there is a surplus or deficit balance in its accounts, 

this shall be apportioned as per balances within each respective parties 

ring fenced fund account. 

12.8 In the event of Membership changes e.g. where there is an inclusion of a 

new Party or withdrawal of existing Party. A meeting of the Parties’ Chief 

Executives will be held within 28 calendar days following formal 

notification of any party membership change. The meeting should 

consider the ongoing financial viability of the Cwm Taf Social Care 

Workforce Development Service and agree the necessary amendments 

to the Agreement and Financial Schedule (incl. Financial Contributions) 

and operation of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 

Service.

13. RECORD KEEPING / YEAR-END ACCOUNTING INFORMATION

13.1 Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager must 

retain all records for a period of six full years following the Financial 

Year-end, or longer if required.

Page 79



13.2 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Manager 

shall make available all financial and other information to the Parties as 

required to fulfill their statutory reporting requirements and to meet any 

specified deadlines.

14. VAT

14.1. The Finances for the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 

Service Manager shall be managed subject to the VAT regime of the 

Host.

15. AUDITING ARRANGEMENTS

15.1 External Audit

15.1.1 The Host’s external auditors, (currently The Wales Audit Office but 

subject to the appointment of the Auditor General for Wales), will be the 

external auditor of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development 

Service. Any costs borne by the Host organisation will be charged to the 

Fund.

 

15.1.2 It shall be the responsibility of the Host to include the funds of the Cwm 

Taf Social Care Workforce Development service in its end of year 

accounting processes, produce the required memorandum account and 

arrange for audit in time for it’s inclusion in all Parties’ year end accounts.

15.1.3 Should the annual audit letter contain any direct reference to the finances 

of the Cwm Taf social care workforce development service, the Host will 

Page 80



send copies of the relevant excerpts of the letter to each of the Cwm Taf 

Social Care Workforce Development Service Management Board, the 

Parties s151 officers and Chief Executives.

15.1.4 The cost of any specific audits required shall be borne by the Party in 

which the audit relates, where an audit is jointly required then 

apportionment of such costs will be made to each respective Party’s ring 

fenced fund account.

15.1.5 Draft Wales Audit Office reports relevant to the services commissioned 

and provided shall be presented to the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development service Management Board and shall be made available to 

the Parties’ internal auditors.

15.2 Internal Audit 

15.2.1 The Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service and its 

finances will be incorporated into the risk assessed Internal Audit 

Programme of the Host. Final reports shall be made available to the 

Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service Management 

Board and to the Parties’ internal auditors.

15.2.2 The costs of any required audits of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce 

Development service shall be borne by the party to which the audit 

relates, where an audit is jointly required then apportionment of such 

costs will be made to each respective Party’s ring fenced fund account.

Page 81



SCHEDULE 5

CWM TAF SOCIAL CARE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT SERVICE  ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE CHART

P
age 82



SCHEDULE 6

INFORMATION SHARING FRAMEWORK 

INTRODUCTION

1. This information sharing framework has been agreed between the 

Parties and the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service. 

2. Each Party acknowledges that its designated Senior Information Risk 

Officer has an overall and ongoing responsibility for the delivery and 

implementation of this information sharing framework.

3. Each Party acknowledges it has signed up to the ‘Wales Accord on the 

Sharing of Personal Information (WASPI)’ and thereby has agreed to a 

common set of corporate principles and standards under which they will 

share information, any regular flow of information sharing will form part of 

a formal Information Sharing Protocol (‘ISP’) which will be developed in 

line with the WASPI ISP guidance. 

4. The ISP will define the process for which information will be exchanged, 

monitored and managed and will essentially document the ‘who, why, 

where, when, what and how’ of sharing personal information, which will 

include:  

 Specific purpose(s) for information sharing;

 Group(s) of service users it impacts upon;

 Relevant legislative powers and the consent processes involved;

Page 83



 Data which is to be shared;

 Use unique identifiers to ensure all partner organisations are referring 

to the same service user;

 Required operational procedures and the process for review;

 Means of communication to practitioners the specific operational 

requirements;

 Only the minimum necessary personal information consistent with 

the purposes set out in the ISP will shared.

 Each ISP will be kept under review to ensure that it complies with all 

relevant legislation including but not limited to any data protection 

legislation.

ISP Facilitators 

5. Members of the Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service 

Information Management Working Group, consisting of a Cwm Taf Social 

Care Workforce Development Service representative and 

representatives from each LA (as identified below), will facilitate the 

coordination and completion of any ISP. 

6. The working group will act as facilitators providing local managers with 

advice and guidance regarding the development of ISP’s, including 

general information governance advice in addition to specific legislation 

which can be relied upon to enable lawful information sharing. 

Page 84



7. Cwm Taf SOCIAL CARE WORKFORCE DEVELOPMENT SERVICE 

Information Management Working Group Representatives 

Organisation Responsible Officer 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council Designated SIRO
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council 

Designated SIRO

8. All Parties’ Staff who work directly with service users in order to carry out 

the functions described in any ISP, are bound by the terms of this 

Schedule.

9. The term ‘staff’ in this context encompasses paid workers, volunteers, 

students and other temporary workers approved by the employing / 

hosting organisation, whose duties include those relating to the functions 

outlined in any ISP.  

10. The Parties will ensure that all current and newly-appointed Cwm Taf 

Social Care Workforce Development Service Staff receive appropriate 

training in the application of any ISP and the requirements of the WASPI 

framework. 

Page 85



Appendix 1

Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development Service

Indicative Budget 2016 / 2017

Estimated Budget 2016/17 

 
RCTCBC MTCBC Total 

Cwm Taf
    

Local Authority Core Expenditure Budget    
   

Staffing Incl. associated Costs 354,428 31,270 385,698 
Delivery 147,030 33,200 180,230 
Approved Mental Health Practitioners Awards  5,000 5,000 
Health & Safety Budgets - Delivery 12,000 0 12,000 
Total LA Core Expenditure Budget 513,458 69,470 582,928 
    
SCWDP Expenditure Budget    

   
Staffing Incl. associated Costs 556,990 130,600 687,590 
Delivery 237,110 117,219 354,329 
Less SCDWP Grant Income -555,870 -173,473 -729,343 

SCWDP (LA Core 30% Match Funding) Expenditure Budget 238,230 74,346 312,576 
    
Total LA & SCWDP Core Expenditure Budget 751,688 143,816 895,504 
    
Other grant funding    
    
PLOF Grant Spend    
Staffing Incl. associated Costs 43,632 0 43,632 
Delivery 57,160 17,900 75,060 
Less PLOF Grant Income -100,792 -17,900 -118,692 
Net PLOF Budget 2016/17 0 0 0

Page 86



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Cohesion Programme Funding Developments

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 To provide an update on the progress of the regional European Social Fund (ESF) 
Cohesion programme developments.

1.2 Three projects focused on adults have been approved (Communities for Work, 
Bridges into Work 2 and Working Skills for Adults) as well as the youth focused 
project Inspire 2 Achieve.  There is also an expectation that formal approval is 
imminent for the remaining youth project Inspire 2 Work.

1.3 The proposed future delivery model detailed within the report provides the 
coordination of all EU employability projects.  This will enable the local authority to 
ensure access to all EU funding available for prevention and early intervention whilst 
ensuring all data is centrally captured to report against both the Single Integrated 
Plan and Corporate Plan

1.4 The investment linked to the ESF projects highlighted in the report will enable the 
authority to substantially improve the percentage of grant income against the 
investment of resources. This investment will enable the authority to generate more 
than £3 million of grant income over the next 3 years.

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that

2.1 The content of the report be noted and the model progressed.

Date Written 1st March 2016
Report Author Jaime Spooner/Ryan Stokes/Deb 

Newton 
Service Area Prevention & Early Intervention
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 
Committee Date 23rd March 2016

Page 87

Agenda Item 6



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 Cabinet will be aware from a previous report (May 2014) of the future ESF funding 
programme ‘Cohesion’ which aims to improve employment and education 
opportunities within areas of high deprivation.  Following consideration on the 
content of the report members agreed to develop funding applications as part of a 
strategic model for the future European Union (EU) funded employability agenda.

3.2 While good progress has been made over the past 5 years, the impact of the welfare 
reform and other austerity measures has continued to have a negative impact on 
vulnerable families of Merthyr Tydfil.  Over 80% of families referred to the Multiple 
Intervention Assistance (MIA) family support programme in the past 12 months were 
struggling with finance related issues such as debt, unable to afford essential food 
items and subsequent poor mental health.  There is an ongoing need to support 
these families to develop the skills to improve their personal, social, educational and 
economic status.

4.0 COHESION DEVELOPMENTS

4.1 Regional - The MTCBC employability team and associated partners have been 
working with neighbouring authorities to progress 4 key strategic projects which are 
detailed in Appendix 1 of this report, a summary of the projects are highlighted 
below:

Cohesion Themes Project Target group Project status

Priority 1  - Tackling 
Poverty through 
Sustainable Employment

Bridges into 
Work 2

25+ Long Term 
Unemployed adults and 
25+ Economically 
Inactive living in a non 
Communities First (CF) 
areas only

Approved

Priority 2 - Skills for 
Growth

Working Skills 
for Adults 2 Employed adults Approved

Priority 3  - Youth 
Employment and 
Attainment

Inspire 2 
Achieve

11-18 year olds at risk of 
becoming  NEET (not in 
Employment, Education 
or Training) 

Approved

Priority 3 - Youth 
Employment and 
Attainment

Inspire 2 Work 16 – 24 years old
Business plan 
submitted   
awaiting approval 

4.2 With all 4 local authority sponsored applications progressing to the business 
planning stage, the two projects focused on adults have been approved with  the 
youth focused project Inspire 2 Achieve also having received approval with an 
expectation that the formal approval is imminent for the remaining youth project 
Inspire 2 Work.  

Page 88



4.3 National - Welsh Government and other agencies have continued to progress a 
number of isolated funding applications (see Appendix 2 for the national project 
detail) nationally which are linked to the Department for Education & Skills (DfES), 
Communities First, Families First and Flying Start.  

4.4 Welsh European Funding Office (WEFO) have advised the local authority sponsored 
projects should work with the national programmes to ensure the interventions are 
targeted at the appropriate individuals within designated geographical areas and 
have the greatest impact possible.  The employability team influenced the regional 
approach to ensure the employability support is available to all residents across 
Merthyr Tydfil (see Appendix 3 – project geographic coverage).   

4.5 In planning the local support requirements it was identified that without an effective 
coordination of both regional and national projects at a local level the interventions 
could potentially generate confusion amongst professionals and local residents.  The 
future delivery model detailed in Appendix 4 will provide the coordination of all EU 
employability projects.  This will enable the local authority to ensure access to all EU 
funding available for prevention and early intervention whilst ensuring all data is 
centrally captured to report against both the Single Integrated Plan and Corporate 
Plan.  

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 WEFO recognise that match funding is more difficult given the recent austerity and 
as a result  most ESF operations are requiring 75% grant and 25% match funding 
ratio commitment from programme sponsors (such as Local Authorities) for 3 years.  

Cohesion 
programme Project Target group Lead 

organisation
Project 
Status

Priority 1  - 
Tackling Poverty 
through 
Sustainable 
Employment

Communities4Work – 
Adults

25+ Long Term 
Unemployed 
adults and 
Economically 
Inactive adults 
living in CF 
areas

Welsh 
Government Approved

Priority 3 – Youth 
Employment and 
Attainment

Communities4work – 
Young people  

16 to 24 living 
in CF areas

Welsh 
Government Approved

Priority 1  - 
Tackling Poverty 
through 
Sustainable 
Employment

PACE

Early Years 
development – 
targeting 25+ 
Long Term 
Unemployed 
and 
Economically 
Inactive Lone 
Parents – no 
staff resource 
planned for 
Merthyr Tydfil

Welsh 
Government Approved

Page 89



This has been regarded as a positive move by local authorities.  This investment will 
enable the authority to substantially improve the percentage of grant income against 
the investment of resources.  This investment will enable the authority to generate 
more than £3 million of grant income over the next 3 years.

6.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

6.1 A Single Integrated Plan and Sustainability Impact summary has been completed 
and the developments positively impact on a number of aspects of the Single 
Integrated Plan including: 

 Maintaining independence; 
 Better access to quality services and facilities;   
 Learning for Life; and  
 Economic, social and environmental wellbeing of people and communities, 

achieving a better quality of life for our own and future generations.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR LINDA MATTHEWS
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Future ESF funding 
programme ‘Cohesion’

May 2014

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.

Page 90



Appendix 1
Cohesion project developments linked Direct to Merthyr Tydfil CBC for delivery

Cohesion 
programme 

Priority

Proposed 
regional 

Developments
Targeted 

individuals

Eligible 
Geographical 

areas for 
delivery

Current total 
value of project 
/ timeframe for 
Merthyr Tydfil

Expected local 
outcome Current position

Priority 1-
Tackling 
Poverty 
through 
Sustainable 
Employment

Bridges into Work 
2

 Adults 
Economically 
inactive

 Adults Long term 
unemployed

Non Communities 
First postcodes.

£744,000

36 months

250 supported with 50% 
progressing into 
employment

Approved

Priority 2 - 
Skills for 
Growth

Working skills for 
Adults 2

 Employed 
individuals 
seeking 
progression

Merthyr Tydfil
£1,100,000

36 months

720 supported to progress 
in employment

Approved

Priority3 - 
Youth 
Employment 
and Attainment

INSPIRE TO 
ACHIEVE

 11-18 year olds at 
risk of becoming 
NEETS

Merthyr Tydfil
£874,00 

36 months

561   11 – 18 year olds 
supported from becoming 
NEET

Approved

Priority3 - 
Youth 
Employment 
and Attainment

INSPIRE 4 
WORK

 16 - 17 year olds 
Tiers 1 & 2

 18 – 24 year olds 
unemployed

Merthyr Tydfil £600,000

36 months

500 Young people (200  
16-17 years & 300 18 – 24 
year) supported to either 
gain qualification progress 
to further learning or enter 
employment

Business plan submitted   
awaiting approval

P
age 91



Appendix 2

Cohesion project developments from National partners potentially needing MTCBC input for delivery

Cohesion 
programme 

Priority

Proposed 
regional 

Developments
Targeted 

individuals
Eligible areas for 

delivery

Current total 
value of 

project / time 
frame

Expected local 
outcome Current position

Priority 1 
Tackling Poverty 
through 
Sustainable 
Employment

Communities4work  Economically 
inactive

 Long term 
unemployed

All Communities 
First Areas

Approved 

Priority 3 – 
Youth 
Employment and 
Attainment

Communities4work  11-18 year olds 
at risk of 
becoming 
NEETS

All Communities 
First Areas

£1,0622,237.66 
2015/18
Value to MTCBC

Target 1080 
individuals engaged 
216 into work

Approved 

PACE  Early Years 
and childcare 
development

Unknown at this 
stage

Unknown at this 
stage

Unknown at this 
stage

No workers allocated in 
Merthyr Tydfil

P
age 92



Appendix 3

Geographical Coverage by project

County Borough of Merthyr Tydfil

Communities First Areas Non 
Communities First Areas

Communities4work Adults WG – MTCBC delivery Bridges into work 2 – 
Regional MTCBC delivery

Communities4work Youth WG – MTCBC delivery

 

Inspire2work Regional MTCBC delivery linked to Careers Wales 5 Tier Model 
and NEET Agenda

Inspire2achieve Regional MTCBC delivery linked to schools and NEET Agenda 
(will include developments of Real Opportunities (SEN) – Regional MTCBC delivery) (Post prevent)

Working skills for Adults 2

P
age 93



Appendix 4

BIW2I2W WSFA

CORE TEAM FOR ELEMENTS OF DELIVERY AND COMPLIANCE 
OF ALL ESF PROVISION AND SUPPORTING EMPLOYABILITY

Procurement

Partnerships

Employability 
Corporate Plan 

& SIP

All of the above will deliver a programme of activity to 
participants from the age of 16+

I2W – Youth (16-24), BIW (25+ EI and LTU, non CF, complex 
barriers) and WSFA2 (16+ Employed)

FSF – Support clients linked to DWP agenda 2015/2016
FF – Quick Step Delivery 2015

Support delivery of partnerships, supports inclusive pre 
employment and inclusive support for those with mental 

health issues.
Supports delivery of objectives within SIP and Corporate Plan

£815k
target 250 Adults

2015-2018

£1.3 Million
1643 target
2015-2018

NLC

£1.3 Million
 Target 500 yp 

2015 - 2018

Communities
4work 

Target 1080 
individuals 

engaged 216 into 
work

2015-2018

Inspire to 
Achieve
£1.3 Million

Target 710 yp

Education / 
Schools

Employability operational structure for implementation  

Respond to 
Economic 

Growth Strategy  

P
age 94



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 The Social Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act (SSWB Act) will fundamentally change 
the way in which we consider the delivery of Social Care in Merthyr Tydfil and has a 
significant number of implications for current strategies, policies and procedures 
which will need to be amended to comply with the SSWB Act. 

1.2 Codes of Practice and Statutory Guidance accompany the SSWB Act and whilst 
these statutory documents provide detailed guidance for the Social Services 
functions, local guidance is required to support staff to apply the requirements within 
the local context. 

1.3 The timescale for receiving the Codes of Practice and Statutory guidance from 
Welsh Government means that a range of procedures, staff guidance and public 
information  have to be updated in a short space of time.

1.4 It is therefore proposed that the most effective way of achieving this would be to 
delegate the decisions to the statutory Director of Social Services and relevant 
Cabinet Members to allow officers to present revisions in a timely manner and as 
they are updated.

1.5 The purpose of the report is therefore to update Cabinet on the implementation of 
the SSWB Act and the implications for Merthyr Tydfil on the commencement of the 
Act on 6th April 2016.

Date Written 9th March 2016
Report Author Jonathan Strong
Service Area People and Performance
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt
Committee Date 23rd March 2016

Page 95

Agenda Item 7



1.6 To seek approval for the recommended changes to relevant Social Care procedures 
and Public Information leaflets to enable Merthyr Tydfil to be compliant with the 
SSWB Act, regulations and Codes of Practice to be delegated to the Statutory 
Director of Social Services and relevant Cabinet members.

1.7 To seek Cabinet authorisation to continue charging for residential and non-
residential care services and to update the Council's charging Policies and 
procedures to meet the requirements of Part 5 of the SSWB Act.

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that

2.1 The breadth and range of the SSWB Act be noted and delegated power for the 
necessary changes to current procedures be granted to the Statutory Director of 
Social Services and relevant Cabinet member.

2.2 Officers continue charging for residential and non-residential care services and to 
update the Council's charging Policies, procedures and Public Information to address 
the changes required by Part 5 of the SSWB Act be agreed.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 The SSWB Act was enacted in May 2014 and will come into force on 6th April 2016.

3.2 The SSWB Act provides the legal framework for improving the well-being of people 
who need care and support, and carers who need support, and for transforming 
social services in Wales.

3.3 The SSWB Act applies to children, adults and carers equally and as such is 
groundbreaking in its approach.  Whilst it consolidates a range of legislation some 
legislation, most notably parts of the Children's Act 1989 and 2004 remain extant.

3.4 The SSWB Act comprises 11 parts and is supported by detailed regulations, codes 
of practice and statutory guidance on the exercise of Social Services functions which 
are binding on Local Authorities and which is legally enforceable for all partners. 

3.5 The aim of the SSWB Act is to:

 Put individuals and their needs, at the centre of their care, and give them a 
significant voice in, and control over, achieving the outcomes that help them 
achieve well-being. 

 Encourage individuals to self-support wherever possible, with local authority 
intervention being focused on the most vulnerable. 

 Develop sustainable social services through a co-productive approach that leads 
to more people being able to be supported without the need for eligibility 
assessments and managed social care support.

Page 96



3.6 In order to oversee the implementation of the SSWB Act and in accordance with the 
direction of Welsh Government, the Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing 
Partnership Board was established in January 2015 comprising of Cabinet members 
from Merthyr Tydfil and RCT, Executive and Non Executive members of Cwm Taf 
UHB, the Directors of Social Services for Merthyr Tydfil and RCT, third sector 
representatives, independent sector representative and representation from Welsh 
Government and the Care Council for Wales.

3.7 This Board is supported by an Executive group and a number of working groups 
charged with developing and delivering an implementation plan for both the SSWB 
Act and wider transformational change.

3.8 Work is ongoing to further develop the Terms of Reference and work priorities for 
this Partnership Board (with reference to the requirements in the SSWB Act and the 
work being undertaken to develop the Terms of Reference for the Public Service 
Board).

3.9 The responsibilities of the Partnership Board are clarified in Part 9 of the SSWB Act 
but in summary what it will oversee should include:

 An in-depth shared population assessment with shared plans for working across 
agencies to meet needs more effectively.

 The development of a wider range of community, wellbeing and preventative 
services, particularly delivered through social enterprises, aimed at supporting 
people in the community.

 The development of constructive and mature relationships with the independent 
sectors including market sufficiency analysis.

 The development of effective early help services for those beginning to struggle.
 The delivery of better quality Information, advice and assistance for the public to 

support people make good care choices.
 Flexible, proportionate assessments and record keeping, reducing bureaucracy.
 Assessments that are flexible, proportionate and undertaken in partnership with 

others to reduce bureaucracy.
 Strong regional safeguarding arrangements for children and adults and duties on 

professionals to report suspicions.
 The development of advocacy.
 The development of integration arrangements and pooled budgets with particular 

emphasis for services to older people with complex needs and long term 
conditions, including dementia, people with learning disabilities, carers, including 
young carers, Integrated Family Support Services and children with complex 
needs due to disability or illness.

3.10 In order to support the implementation of the SSWB Act the Care Council for Wales 
has developed training materials and supporting information to prepare the 
workforce for the changes required.  These training materials developed through 
Care Council for Wales are used locally to deliver the Learning and Development 
plan for Social Services staff in Cwm Taf to date, this has included: 

Page 97



 An overview of the SSWB Act.  This overview has been available since the 
summer of 2015 as a training session (and more recently as an e-learning 
package).  The training introduces the SSWB Act and raises awareness of what it 
means for those working in social care and  paves the way for implementing the 
legislation and establishes a foundation for more in-depth and specialist training 
that people might need.

 Core modules.  These more detailed knowledge based learning materials have 
been available since January 2016 and are for those whose roles are most 
affected by the SSWB Act and are intended to assist to help them implement the 
change.  There are four core modules and they are:  

 Introduction and general functions. 
 Assessing and meeting individual needs.
 Looked after and accommodated children. 
 Safeguarding.

3.11 The availability of the training was delayed and therefore Merthyr Tydfil and RCT 
have prioritised senior staff, managers and those working at “the front door” for” the 
training before the end of March.  Further roll out will continue for others which will 
be reviewed in July 2016.

3.12 Further information regarding the training resources for the SSWB Act is available on 
the Care Council website on http://www.ccwales.org.uk/learning-resources-1/.

4.0 SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING (WALES) ACT

4.1 The SSWB Act provides a new statutory framework for social services in Wales.  
The framework consists of three main elements – the Act itself, regulations made 
under the Act, and supporting codes of practice and statutory guidance – which 
together form the framework within which social services will operate from 6th April 
2016.

4.2 The SSWB Act is built on the following principles:

 It aims to change the way people’s care and support needs are met – putting an 
individual, and their needs, at the centre of their care and support, giving them a 
voice in, and control over, reaching the personal outcome goals that matter to 
them.

 Central to the SSWB Act is the concept of well-being – helping people to 
maximise their own well-being.

 The SSWB Act attempts to rebalance the focus of care and support to 
prevention and earlier intervention – increasing preventative services within the 
community to minimise the escalation of needs to a critical level.

 Collaboration – strong partnership working between organisations and co-
production with people needing care and/or support is a key focus of the SSWB 
Act.

Page 98

http://www.ccwales.org.uk/learning-resources-1/
http://www.ccwales.org.uk/learning-resources-1/


4.3 The Act requires a culture change from the way in which services have often been 
provided to an approach based on collaboration, and an equal relationship between 
practitioners and people who need care and support. 

4.4 In order to give people a strong voice in, and real control over, their care and support 
practitioners will need to tap into the resources that people themselves, their families 
and the community have.  This will require better access to information and 
community resources and an increased level of preventative services.  

4.5 It will also require different types of interaction between practitioners and individuals 
needing care and support.  For example, professionals will need to help people to 
think about ‘what sort of life they would like and what needs to change to make this 
happen?’  This will require a shift from thinking ‘we do to’ the individual requiring care 
and support to ‘we do with’ the individual who may need care and support or the 
carer who may need support.

4.6 Part 1

4.6.1 Part 1 provides a brief overview and Introduction to the Act.

4.7 Part 2 General Functions 
(http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part2en.pdf

4.7.1 Central to the Act is the well-being duty.  This duty applies to local authorities (or 
other organisations they have delegated functions to) and their practitioners when, 
for instance, carrying out assessment or providing information and advice.

4.7.2 Promoting well-being includes focusing on preventing the need for care and support 
and stopping people’s needs from escalating, as well as providing people with the 
information, advice and assistance they need to take control over their day-to-day 
life.

4.7.3 Responsibility for well-being must be shared with people who need care and support 
and carers who need support.  Practitioners must look at what people can contribute 
in achieving their well-being and empower them to contribute to achieving their own 
well-being with the appropriate level of support.

4.7.4 In the Act, well-being is defined with eight common aspects (eg. suitability of living 
accommodation or domestic, family and personal relationships) and two more that 
are specific to either children or adults.  While all aspects of well-being in the 
definition have equal importance, it is likely that some aspects will be more relevant 
to one person than another.  Practitioners should adopt a flexible approach that 
allows for a focus on which aspects of well-being matter most to the individual, or 
family, concerned and co-produce solutions with people themselves.  

4.7.5 There are other overarching duties that underpin the Act:

 to take note of an individual’s views, wishes and feelings; 
 to promote and respect their dignity; 

Page 99

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part2en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part2en.pdf


 to enable them to fully participate; and 
 to have regard to their characteristics, culture and beliefs. 

4.7.6 The local authority must take steps to ensure that all care and support is delivered in 
a way which complies with these duties.  The UN Principles for Older Persons, 
Convention on the Rights of the Child and Convention on the Rights of Disabled 
People also apply, as well as the European Convention of Human Rights.

4.7.7 Under this part of the Act there is a duty on Local Authorities to:

 Seek to promote the wellbeing of individuals who have a need for care and 
support and carers who have a need for support.

 Local Authorities and Local Health Boards to carry out and produce a 
population needs assessment for those people who may have a need for care 
and support or carers for support.

 To develop and have in place a range of preventative services. 
 To develop and encourage the use of social enterprises to deliver preventative 

services or to support those with care and support or support needs.
 Provide an information and advice service.
 Maintain registers of sensory impaired people and children with a disability.

Implications for Part 2 for Merthyr Tydfil

4.7.8 A major emphasis of part 2 is the development of information and advice for people 
who may have a need for care and support and the development of a range of 
preventative services to support early intervention and people's wellbeing. 

4.7.9 The development of an effective approach to the provision of Information Advice and 
Assistance for both children and adults will require a transitional period in the new 
financial year.  Of note one of the requirements is to have in place a directory of 
services to provide good quality information from the network of social care, health 
and third sector organisations.  As with the other regions in Wales we will 
commission the 'Dewis Cymru' website http://www.dewis.wales/ to achieve this but it 
will be an evolving resource and will need to be continually updated.

4.7.10 Work has begun to develop the population needs assessment and as there are 
strong links to the requirements within the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) 
Act this is being done within a single project in Cwm Taf.  Whilst the requirements in 
the Population Needs analysis are significant this is on track for reporting in 2017. 

4.7.11 Work undertaken through the Intermediate Care Fund has improved dialogue across 
agencies and funding capacity.  Work is required however to further develop and 
coordinate targeted community based responses and to formalise the way third 
sector and social enterprises can provide services to the public and this will be part 
of a plan looking at early intervention and prevention in the next 12 to 18 months.

Page 100

http://www.dewis.wales/


4.7.12 Work to complete the Older Peoples Commissioning statement, develop a 
preventative strategy for children and young people, a carers strategy and a 
commissioning strategy for learning disability services has been supported by the 
Social Services and Wellbeing Regional Partnership during this past year and this 
work has led to a greater understanding of the preventative services that the region 
needs to commission or support. 

4.7.13 It is envisaged that the population needs analysis will further clarify the requirements 
for preventative services across the County Borough more effectively (for people 
who need care and support) but it is recognised that the development of community 
capacity to provide effective alternatives to statutory care will take some years to 
establish. 

4.7.14 Part 2 of the SSWB Act covers a wide range of requirements which includes the 
requirement to establish and maintain registers of people ordinarily resident in their 
area who are sight or hearing impaired and for children who are disabled or have a 
physical or mental impairment which gives rise, or may in the future give rise to, 
needs for care and support. 

4.7.15 Work to establish these registers are underway.  There is no requirement to maintain 
a register of adults who are disabled and members are advised that Merthyr Tydfil 
will not use discretion to establish an adult disability register on a voluntary basis as 
this is not considered to be productive in terms of planning, commissioning or 
performance. 

4.8 Part 3 Assessing the needs of individuals
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part3en.pdf

4.8.1 The SSWB Act creates a right to an assessment where it appears that the 
individual may have needs for care and support.  The duty to assess applies to 
adults and children who are ordinary resident in the area regardless of their level of 
need or of the financial resources of the adult or child or any persons with parental 
responsibility for the child.  The aim is to streamline assessments through a single 
process for children, adults and carers (while recognising the different needs of 
children and adults) to ensure greater consistency of practice across Wales. 

4.8.2 The purpose of an assessment is to work with an individual, carer and family to 
understand their capacity and resources and the personal outcomes they want to 
achieve, as well as the barriers preventing them achieving the outcomes, and what 
contribution the individual and their family or the wider community can make to 
achieving those outcomes. 

4.8.3 The intention is that such assessments will be centred on 'what matters to the 
person' and to be proportionate to the situation.

The code of practice details 5 elements to the duties of the local authority:

 assess and have regard to the person’s circumstances;
 have regard to their personal outcomes;

Page 101

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part3en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part3en.pdf


 assess and have regard to any barriers to achieving those outcomes;
 assess and have regard to any risks to the person or to other persons if those 

outcomes are not achieved; and
 assess and have regard to the person’s strengths and capabilities.

Implications for Part 3 for Merthyr Tydfil

4.8.4 Both Children and Adults services have over the last few years been moving to the 
position of outcome focussed assessment in line with the principles and spirit of the 
SSWB Act as it was understood at the time.  Good proportionate assessment is 
essential if positive outcomes for the individual are to be achieved whilst ensuring 
that increasingly strained resources are to be used to best effect.  

4.9 Part 4 Meeting the Needs

http://gov.wales/docs/phhs/publications/160106pt4en.pdf

4.9.1 This part of the SSWB Act:

 determines the point at which the authority has a legal duty to provide or arrange 
care and support;

 sets eligibility criteria that will apply to all people – children, adults and carers;
 sets out the requirements of a care and support plan; and
 sets out the circumstances required by a Local Authority when making direct 

payments.

4.9.2 This part of the SSWB Act provides a single eligibility framework.  The determination 
of eligibility flows from, and is a product of, the assessment process.

4.9.3 Following assessment a judgement must be made about whether the assessed need 
is eligible based on the national eligibility criteria for adults, children and carers.

4.9.4 In each case there are four separate conditions which must all be met for the 
assessed need(s) to be eligible but Local authorities are automatically required to 
meet needs to protect a person from, or the risk of, abuse or neglect or (for children) 
harm.

Eligibility for Adults 

4.9.5 There are four separate conditions which must all be met for the adult’s assessed 
need to be eligible.

4.9.6 The first condition relates to the adult’s circumstances and is met if the need arises 
from the circumstances which are specified in the regulations: 
 physical or mental ill-health;
 age;
 disability;
 dependence on alcohol or drugs; or
 other similar circumstances.

Page 102

http://gov.wales/docs/phhs/publications/160106pt4en.pdf


4.9.7 The second condition is met if the need relates to one or more of the outcomes 
specified in the regulations: 
 ability to carry out self-care or domestic routines; 
 ability to communicate; 
 protection from abuse or neglect; 
 involvement in work, education, learning or in leisure activities; 
 maintenance or development of family or other significant personal relationships; 
 development and maintenance of social relationships and involvement in the 

community; or 
 fulfilment of caring responsibilities for a child.

4.9.8 The third condition is met if the need is such that the adult is not able to meet that 
need alone, with the care and support of others who are able or willing to provide 
that care and support; or with the assistance of services in the community. 

 The assessment should establish whether the individual’s needs are such that 
the needs cannot be met through: services available in the community which are 
accessible to them without the need for a care and support plan; care and 
support co-ordinated by themselves, their family or carer, or others; or by any 
other means.

 The above means that if an individual’s need for care and support is being (or will 
be) met by a carer, and that carer is willing and able to meet the individual’s 
needs then the duty on a local authority to meet those needs does not apply.

4.9.9 The fourth condition is met if the adult is unlikely to achieve one or more of their 
personal outcomes unless the local authority provides or arranges care and support 
to meet the need in accordance with a care and support plan or it enables the need 
to be met by making direct payments. 

4.9.10 If the four conditions are met the individual has a right to a care and support plan and 
the individual will have an enforceable right to support from the local authority.

4.9.11 In determining eligibility, the local authority must ensure the individual is involved as 
a full partner in assessing to what extent they are able to meet their personal 
outcomes; or with the support of others who are willing to provide that support; or 
with the assistance of services in the community to which they have access. The 
eligibility criteria must not be used as a tool to require individuals to demonstrate 
they have exhausted every other possible avenue of support before becoming 
eligible for local authority assistance.

Eligibility for Children 

4.9.12 There are four separate conditions which must all be met for the child’s assessed 
need to be eligible.

I. The first condition relates to the child’s circumstances and is met if the need 
arises from the circumstances which are specified in the regulations:
 
- physical or mental ill-health;
- age;

Page 103



- disability;
- dependence on alcohol or drugs; or
- other similar circumstances.

OR if the need is unmet it is likely to have an adverse effect on the child’s 
development.

II. The second condition is met if the need relates to one or more of the outcomes 
specified in the regulations: 

- ability to carry out self-care or domestic routines; 
- ability to communicate; 
- protection from abuse or neglect; 
- involvement in work, education, learning or in leisure activities; 
- maintenance or development of family or other significant personal 

relationships; 
- development and maintenance of social relationships and involvement in the 

community; or 
- achieving developmental goals.

III. The third condition is met if the need is such that neither the child, the child’s 
parents nor other persons in a parental role are able to meet, either alone or 
together, or with the support of willing others or with assistance of services in the 
community to which the child, the parents or other persons in a parental role have 
access.

The assessment should establish whether the child’s needs are such that the 
needs cannot be met through: services available in the community which are 
accessible to them without the need for a care and support plan; care and 
support co-ordinated by themselves, their family or carer, or others; or by any 
other means.

The above means that if a child’s need for care and support is being (or will be) 
met by the child’s family or other carer and they are willing and able to do so then 
the duty on a local authority to meet those needs does not apply.

IV. The fourth condition is met if the child is unlikely to achieve one or more of their 
personal outcomes unless the local authority provides or arranges care and 
support to meet the need in accordance with a care and support plan or it 
enables the need to be met by making direct payments. 

Implications for Part 4 for Merthyr Tydfil

4.9.13 The main implication for Merthyr Tydfil is the move away from our current local 
eligibility criteria for adults and children to the single national eligibility criteria. 

4.9.14 This significant change in practice for our assessment staff will take time to embed. 
While the training programme and the development of procedures and guidance is 
ongoing, our staff will require specific support and information to assist them to 
develop the confidence to apply this framework in practice whilst working at pace.  

Page 104



4.10 Part 5 Charging and Financial Assessment

http://gov.wales/docs/phhs/publications/160106pt45en.pdf

4.10.1 The charging and financial assessment framework introduced by the Act, is intended 
to make charging more consistent, fairer and more clearly understood by everyone. 
The framework is based on principles that local authorities must take into account 
when deciding whether to charge a person and in setting the level of any charge they 
make. The overarching principle is that people who are asked to pay a charge 
should only be required to pay what they can afford.

4.10.2Part 5 of the SSWB Act will replace current legislation and allow local authorities the 
discretion to set a charge for the non-residential and residential care and support 
they provide or arrange for adults. The SSWB Act introduces one set of charging 
and financial assessment arrangements rather than the, previously, differing 
arrangements for non-residential and residential care and support. 

4.10.3 Regulations determine the maximum amount a local authority can charge a person 
for non-residential care and support. The current level of the weekly maximum 
charge and “buffer” will be maintained. The current level of the capital limit used to 
determine who pays the full cost of their residential care and support themselves will 
also be maintained.

4.10.4 The Act prohibits charging children and young people under 18 for care and 
support received under Part 4 of the Act. The regulations no longer allow the 
discretion to charge parents or guardians for the care and support their child 
receives under Part 4.

4.10.5 The Act requires mandatory deferred payment agreements for residential care and 
support. Deferred payment agreements allow a person to ‘defer’ or delay the need to 
sell their property to meet the costs of their residential care and support until a later, 
more appropriate time for them. Instead the cost of their residential care is met by 
their local authority with the cost of this secured against the value of their property by 
means of placing a first legal charge upon it.

4.10.6 A local authority can charge a low-level flat-rate charge for preventative services or 
assistance provided to adults although not for preventative services or assistance to 
children. Note that the provision of information and advice, as well as assessment 
and care and support planning, are exempt from charging under the Act.

Implications for Part 5 for Merthyr Tydfil

4.10.7 Welsh Government has indicated that they will be advising on changes to the 
National weekly cap on non-residential charges in 2017. 

4.10.8 It is proposed that we review the Council's Charging Policy for all Social Care 
services during 2016/17with particular consideration to the impact of new charging 
options raised in the SSWB Act such as:  

Page 105

http://gov.wales/docs/phhs/publications/160106pt45en.pdf


 Introducing flat rate charges for preventative services.
 Introducing charges for carers. 
 Introducing charges for shared lives schemes.

4.10.9 In light of this proposed review and the anticipated change to the weekly cap it is 
recommended that Cabinet agree to an interim arrangement for residential and non-
residential charges for 2016/7 to ensure compliance with the SSWB Act and agree to 
receive a more detailed proposal for a revised charging policy for social care 
services in preparation for 2017/18.  

Interim arrangements - non residential charging 

4.10.10 It is advised that Merthyr Tydfil continues to charge for non-residential services and 
the requirements of the SSWB Act are addressed as follows: 

 Short Term Placement / Respite Care - Respite Care must now be considered 
under the non-residential care charging arrangements. This will have financial 
implications for the Council as the maximum weekly charge will now apply.

Interim arrangements Residential charging 

4.10.11 The Council does not have a charging Policy for Residential care as the application 
of this process has been governed by the Charging for Residential Accommodation 
Guidance (CRAG) issued by Welsh Government each year. 

4.10.12 CRAG will no longer be issued by WG and Local Authorities will be required to 
include the requirements for Residential care charges within their overall charging 
Policy.

4.10.13 It is recommended that Merthyr Tydfil put in place an interim Residential charging 
policy for 2016/7. Further, it is recommended that this interim policy adopts the 
general principles and approach set out in the Welsh Government Charging for 
Residential Accommodation Guide (CRAG) 2015, but in addition and in order to 
comply with the SSWB Act we recommend: 

 Producing  formal statements of assessed charge and disregards for residential 
charges; and 

 managing a robust appeals/review process. 

In addition to the above and to support the requirements in part 5 we will also: 

 Introduce a formal Deferred Payments scheme to comply with the requirements 
of the Code of Practice. 

 ensure that we contract with Care homes on behalf of people who are self 
funding their own care placement if requested.

 negotiate fees with the care home sector locally each year to formally agree fee's 
levels that are sufficient to meet the care needs of individuals accepted by care 
homes for placement. Thus we would not expect third party payments to be 
charged against residents to cover costs for care as a result. 

Page 106



 Advise people to take independent financial advice and refer where required to 
the CAB. 

Interim arrangements - Direct Payments

4.10.14  The Direct Payments scheme is extended by the SSWB Act and can now be used 
to purchase Care home placements and also Council run non-residential social care 
services. 

4.10.15  It is recommended that as part of the interim charging arrangements for 2016/17 
that for care home Placements  - the value of the weekly Direct Payment is set 
according to the agreed weekly care home fee's and required category of care for 
the placement.

4.10.16 
 The existing charging policy will remain in place for existing services users until 

they are re-assessed as part of annual benefit increases. 
 There is a requirement to soften the debt recovery process for people receiving 

social care services in order to reflect the nature of the services we provide and 
work is ongoing with the debt recovery service within the council to ensure 
compliance with the requirements. 

 The Council will ensure that people requiring Independent financial advice are 
signposting appropriately.

 Staff will work to the requirements of Ordinary Residence as set out in the Code 
of Practice for Part 11 of the SSWB Act Part 11.  
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part11en.pdf

 The Protection of Property procedures will be reviewed and updated in line with 
the requirements of the SSWB Act. 

4.11 Part 6 Looked After and Accommodated children

http://gov.wales/docs/phhs/publications/160106pt6en.pdf

4.11.1 This part of the act:

 provides for the interpretation of references to a child or young person looked 
after by a local authority. 

 requires local authorities to secure sufficient accommodation in their areas for 
the children they look after and to accommodate children without parents or who 
are lost or abandoned or are under police protection, in detention or on remand. 

 provides for the functions of local authorities in relation to the children they look 
after. 

 provides for the circumstances in which local authorities may or must provide 
support for young people: 
 leaving, or who have left, local authority care
 formerly accommodated in certain establishments
 formerly fostered
 with respect to whom special guardianship orders are or were in force
 provides for the placement of children in secure accommodation 

Page 107

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part11en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/phhs/publications/160106pt6en.pdf


 requires the assessment by local authorities of children who are 
accommodated by health authorities or education authorities or in care homes 
or independent hospitals and the provision of visits and services to those 
children.

Implications for Part 6 for Merthyr Tydfil

4.11.2 The implications within Part 6 of the SSWB Act mainly relate to updating existing 
staff procedures and guidance and ensuring that staff are supported to understand 
the changes and apply them in practice. To achieve this across all the requirements 
of Part 6 will necessitate a transitional period beyond April but this is not considered 
to be of high risk.

4.11.3 The management focus in this area of children's services will continue to emphasise 
challenge, improved decision making and supporting positive outcomes for children.

4.12 Part 7 Safeguarding

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/150610safeguardingguidanceen.pdf

4.12.1 Statutory guidance has been issued for Part 7 which applies to all partners and 

 Requires local authorities to investigate where they suspect that an adult with 
care and support needs is at risk of abuse or neglect. 

 Provides for adult protection and support orders to authorise entry to premises (if 
necessary by force) for the purpose of enabling an authorised officer to assess 
whether an adult is at risk of abuse or neglect and, if so, what if any action should 
be taken. 

 Requires local authorities and their relevant partners to report to the appropriate 
local authority where they suspect that people may be at risk of abuse or neglect. 

 Establishes a National Independent Safeguarding Board to provide support and 
advice to ensure the effectiveness of Safeguarding Boards. 

 Provides for Safeguarding Boards for adults and children and for combining such 
boards. 

4.12.2 The SSWB Act introduces legal duties for the first time in relation to adult 
safeguarding and a duty to investigate a duty which already exists for children.

4.12.3 Alongside the National Independent Safeguarding Boards there is a requirement to 
have regional Safeguarding Boards for adults and children or a single board covering 
both adults and children. These Boards are required amongst other matters to 
produce an annual plan and an annual report.

Implications for Part 7 for Merthyr Tydfil

4.12.4 Cwm Taf have established the Regional Safeguarding Boards for both children and 
adults. Work is progressing to ensure compliance with the guidance on annual plans 
and reports and engagement with the public. The establishment of the Multi Agency 
single hub (MASH) is seen as best practice and is in line with the principles of the 
Act.

Page 108

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/150610safeguardingguidanceen.pdf


4.12.5 The most significant changes in practice will be for adult safeguarding and whilst we 
are well placed to comply with the requirements it should be noted that we are still 
awaiting Welsh Government guidance and training in relation to the 'adult protection 
and support order' 

4.13 Part 8 Social Services Functions

4.13.1 The Code of Practice on the Role of the Director of Social Services under Part 8 
(Social Services Functions) of the Act and its explanatory memorandum were laid 
before the National Assembly for Wales on 28 January 2016.

4.13.2 The code will be laid for 40 days, after which time – if no resolutions are made – it 
must be issued by the Welsh Ministers and will come into effect on 6 April 2016

4.13.3 This part of the Act will detail:

 The role, accountability and governance arrangements for the Statutory Director 
of Social Services.

 The grounds and process for intervention by Welsh Government of a 'failing' local 
Authorities in the exercise of its social services functions.

Implications of part 8 for Merthyr Tydfil

4.13.4 Whilst the final code of practice has yet to be issued, a consideration of the draft 
indicates that although the code updates the role of the Director of Social Services to 
focus on delivering care and support services in keeping with the principles of the 
SSWB Act, it does not represent a fundamental change from the existing role as set 
out in statutory guidance on the role and accountabilities of the Director of Social 
Services, issued in June 2009. 

4.14 Part 9 Co-operation and Partnership

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part9en.pdf

4.14.1 This part of the act details;

 The duty of Local Authorities  and Local Health Boards  to establish Regional 
Partnership Boards and the requirements and responsibilities of those Boards 

 The requirements for an Integrated Family Support Service (IFSS)
 The requirements to pool budgets in relation to:

 Family Support Service (IFSS)
 The exercise of care home accommodation functions
 Functions that will be exercised jointly following the population needs analysis 

and preventative services identified in Part 2

Page 109

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part9en.pdf


Implications for Part 9 for Merthyr Tydfil

4.14.2 The Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board was established in 
January 2015. This Board was created as a condition of the Delivering 
Transformation Grant for 2015/16 to steer the work required to prepare the region for 
the SSWB Act.  

4.14.3 The SSWB Act provides a statutory footing for the Board and sets out in the statutory 
guidance its various requirements and responsibilities.

4.14.4 The Board is currently updating its Terms of Reference through facilitated workshops 
to ensure these responsibilities and links to other statutory Boards are addressed 
and are effective. Of note, amongst those new requirements: 

 Cwm Taf was a pioneer region for the establishment of the IFSS whose purpose 
as a multi agency team is to work with parents and the extended family at an 
early stage before children become at risk of being taken into care. This service 
will continue with a pooled budget arrangement from April 2016 under the 
purview of the Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board.

 The requirements in relation to pooled budgets for Care Homes will not apply 
until April 2018 but the planning process will commence during 2016/17. 

 The most immediate requirement on the Partnership for 2016/17 will be to 
complete the population needs analysis for April 2017 and produce the first 
annual report.

4.15 Part 10 Complaints, Representations and Advocacy

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part10en.pdf

4.15.1 This part of the act details:

 Requirements for receiving and managing complaints and representations 
relating to a local authorities social services functions.

 ensuring that access to advocacy services and support is available to enable 
individuals to engage and participate when local authorities are exercising 
statutory duties in relation to them. 

  duty to arrange an independent professional advocate to facilitate the 
involvement of individuals in certain circumstances.

4.15.2 The availability and use of advocacy is seen as a key building block for assisting 
people to have voice and control and assisting people to have their views, wishes 
and feelings understood.

4.15.3 A code of practice has only been issued in relation to advocacy, Welsh Government 
published revised guidance on complaints in 2014 and will be reviewing this during 
2016/17.

Page 110

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part10en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part10en.pdf


Implications for Part 10 for Merthyr Tydfil

4.15.4 The council already has a well established and regarded complaints process which 
is compliant with the revised guidance issued in 2014.

4.15.5 It has been identified that there are gaps in terms of advocacy services that are 
available and as such work will need to be undertaken to commission advocacy 
services to provide a fit with the requirements of the act. We will also be developing 
staff procedures on advocacy.

4.16 Part 11 Miscellaneous and General

Part 11 Code of Practice (Miscellaneous and General)

4.16.1 This part of the act details:

 The duties of LA's to support Adults in prisons, approved premises or bail 
accommodation (secure estate) in Wales who have care and support needs.

 The duties of LA's to support Children in youth detention accommodation, prison 
or bail accommodation in England and Wales.

 Interpretation of ordinary residence in relation to the Act.

4.16.2 The act and code of practice detail the different responsibilities for Local Authorities 
in relation to adults and children depending on where the prison etc. is situated, for 
instance for adults the responsible LA is where the prison etc. is situated, for children 
it is generally where the child was ordinarily resident prior to the placement.

4.16.3 The code of practice provides a definition of ordinary residence i.e. who is the 
responsible LA  to undertake an assessment and where someone has eligible care 
and support needs who should meet them and details how disputes between Local 
Authorities are resolved.

Implications of Part 11 for Merthyr Tydfil

4.16.4 We do not have any secure estate within Merthyr Tydfil and for children the code of 
practice re-enforces current arrangements.

4.16.5 The code helpfully clarifies ordinary residence which for the vast majority of people 
will be straightforward and will be need to be referred to in relatively few situations, 
for instance when someone comes to live on a temporary basis in Merthyr Tydfil.

4.17 Code of practice in relation to measuring social services performance

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151005code-of-practiceen.pdf

4.17.1 This code of practice sets out a framework for measuring the progress that local 
authorities make against the duties under the Act as a whole and enables local 
authorities to continuously improve services. 

Page 111

http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part11en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part11en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151005code-of-practiceen.pdf


This code of practice covers:

 Well-being.
 Measuring well-being.
 Measuring well-being at a national level.
 Measuring well- being at an individual level.
 Measuring performance.
 Quality standards for local authorities.
 Measuring the quality standards.

4.17.2 The well-being of people who need care and support and carers who need support 
will be measured at a national level by the national outcomes framework for social 
services, which is available at: http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/well-
being/?lang=en.

4.17.3 Local authorities must achieve the quality standards set in this code of practice 
which are:

1. Local authorities must work with people who need care and support and carers 
who need support to define and co-produce personal well-being outcomes that 
people wish to achieve.

2. Local authorities must work with people who need care and support and carers 
who need support and relevant partners to protect and promote people’s physical 
and mental health and emotional well-being.

3.  Local authorities must take appropriate steps to protect and safeguard people 
who need care and support and carers who need support from abuse and neglect 
or any other kinds of harm. (Abuse, neglect and harm are defined in the Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014.

4. Local authorities must actively encourage and support people who need care and 
support and carers who need support to learn and develop and participate in 
society.

5. Local authorities must support people who need care and support and carers 
who need support to safely develop and maintain healthy domestic, family and 
personal relationships.

6. Local Authorities must work with and support people who need care and support 
and carers who need support to achieve greater economic wellbeing, have a 
social life and live in suitable accommodation that meets their needs.

4.17.4 In measuring whether the quality standards are achieved, each local authority must 
have arrangements in place to collect and return the data on the statutory 
performance measures.

Page 112

http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/well-being/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/well-being/?lang=en


4.17.5 The quantitative and qualitative data must be submitted annually and the first year 
will detail the financial year April 2016 to March 2017. The quantitative data is set out 
in supporting technical documents. In relation to the qualitative data this will detail a 
person’s experiences of social services and whether this has contributed to 
improving their well-being.

Implications of measuring performance for Merthyr Tydfil

4.17.6 A quality assurance framework referencing the national standards for social services 
will be introduced across adult and children's services in 2016/17. 

4.17.7 The technical documents for the quantitative performance measures are now 
available and staff are working to update the swift system to manage the 
amendments required. This technical work will require a transitional period to embed 
and it is anticipated that there will be a delay in achieving full data integrity.

4.17.8 Work to develop an approach to the collection of the qualitative information is 
progressing but final guidance from Welsh Government remains outstanding. 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

5.1 There is an expectation that a transitional period will be required to further develop 
the Policies, procedures and processes to support the extensive requirements of the 
SSWB Act. 

5.2 For 2016/17 the Delivering Transformation Grant will continue and £292,561 is 
allocated for the Cwm Taf Region.

5.3 Whilst Welsh Government expectation is that the SSWB Act is cost neutral the 
changes to the charging arrangements and in particular the requirements around the 
treatment of respite care are anticipated to incur additional cost pressures. 

6.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

6.1 The Single Integrated Plan & Sustainability Impact Assessment has been completed 
and the proposals positively impact on the following aspects of the Community Plan:

 People in Merthyr Tydfil have the opportunity and aspiration to learn and develop 
their skills to maximise their potential.

 People, who live and work in Merthyr Tydfil are supported to enjoy a healthier 
and better quality of life.

 People enjoy a vibrant, attractive, safe and sustainable place in which to live, 
work, play and visit.

 Prevention and Early Intervention - in order to break cycles of dependency and 
prevent the persistence of poor outcomes from one generation to the next.

 Sustainable Development - enhancing the economic, social and environmental 
wellbeing of people and communities, achieving a better quality of life for our own 
and future generations.

Page 113



 Poverty - preventing poverty, helping people out of poverty and mitigating the 
impact of poverty.

 Working with Communities - The role of communities working in partnership to 
help to deliver the Vision and Priority Outcomes for Merthyr Tydfil.

 United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child - empowering children’s, 
young people’s and their parents’ / carers’ to participate in the decision making 
process on services that affect their lives.

 Equal Opportunities – ending discrimination, ensuring equality of opportunity and 
that all parts of our population can live together, where every person has an 
equal chance to participate and has equal access to services.

 Social Inclusion - ensuring that no-one is disadvantaged because of poverty, 
geography or access to services.

 
6.2 No negative impacts have been identified by the Single Integrated Plan & 

Sustainability Impact Assessment.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

7.2 Welsh Government has undertaken Equality impact assessments, Welsh Language 
impact assessments and Children's rights impact assessments across all parts of the 
SSWB Act. The link to all assessments is included below.

http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/act/assessments?lang=en

8.0 CONSULTATION

8.1 Welsh Government completed the consultation for the SSWB Act in two Tranches. 

8.2 The outcome for Tranche 1 is summarised in the following Ministerial statement:

http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/sswellbeingact/?lang=en

8.3 The outcome for Tranche 2 is summarised in the following Ministerial statement:

http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/10115887/?lang=en

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR LINDA MATTHEWS
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

Page 114

http://gov.wales/topics/health/socialcare/act/assessments?lang=en
http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/sswellbeingact/?lang=en
http://gov.wales/about/cabinet/cabinetstatements/2015/10115887/?lang=en


BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Cabinet Information Report: Social 
Services & Wellbeing (Wales) Act 
2014

Cabinet Report Social Services 
and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014:
Implementation Programme

Cabinet Report Social Services 
and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014:
Implementation Programme

25th March 2015

22nd April 2015

16th December 2015

Civic Centre

Civic Centre

Civic Centre

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Further Background Papers:

The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/pdfs/anaw_20140004_en.pdf
 

The Care and Support (Population Assessments) (Wales) Regulations 2015

The Care and Support (Partnership Arrangements for Population Assessments) (Wales) 
Regulations 2015

The Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (Social Enterprise, Co-operatives 
and Third Sector) (Wales) Regulations 2015

The Care and Support (Assessment) (Wales) Regulations 2015

The Care and Support (Eligibility) (Wales) Regulations 2015

The Care and Support (Care Planning) (Wales) Regulations 2015

The Adult Protection and Support Orders (Authorisied Officer) (Wales) Regulations 2015

Page 115

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/anaw/2014/4/pdfs/anaw_20140004_en.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1367/pdfs/wsi_20151367_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1495/pdfs/wsi_20151495_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1495/pdfs/wsi_20151495_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1500/pdfs/wsi_20151500_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1500/pdfs/wsi_20151500_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1305/pdfs/wsi_20151305_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1578/pdfs/wsi_20151578_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1335/pdfs/wsi_20151335_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1335/pdfs/wsi_20151335_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1335/pdfs/wsi_20151335_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1465/pdfs/wsi_20151465_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1465/pdfs/wsi_20151465_mi.pdf


The Safeguarding Boards (Functions and Procedures) (Wales) Regulations 2015

The Safeguarding Boards (General) (Wales) Regulations 2015

The National Independent Safeguarding Board (Wales) (No.2) Regulations 2015

The Care and Support (Ordinary Residence) (Specified Accommodation) (Wales) 
Regulations 2015

The Care and Support (Disputes about Ordinary Residence, etc.) (Wales) Regulations 2015

Part 2 Code of Practice (General Functions) 

Part 3 Code of Practice (Assessing the Needs of Individuals) 

Code of Practice on the Role of the Director of Social Services under Part 8 of the Social 
Services and Well-being (Wales) 2014 Act (not yet available) 

Part 7 Statutory Guidance (Safeguarding)

Part 9 Statutory Guidance (Partnership Arrangements)

Part 10 Code of Practice (Advocacy)

Part 11 Code of Practice (Miscellaneous and General)

Code of Practice on Measuring Social Services Performance

Page 116

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1466/pdfs/wsi_20151466_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1466/pdfs/wsi_20151466_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1357/pdfs/wsi_20151357_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1357/pdfs/wsi_20151357_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1803/pdfs/wsi_20151803_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1803/pdfs/wsi_20151803_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1499/pdfs/wsi_20151499_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1499/pdfs/wsi_20151499_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1499/pdfs/wsi_20151499_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1494/pdfs/wsi_20151494_mi.pdf
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/wsi/2015/1494/pdfs/wsi_20151494_mi.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part2en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part2en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part3en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part3en.pdf
http://gov.wales/consultations/healthsocialcare/code-of-practice/?status=closed&lang=en
http://gov.wales/consultations/healthsocialcare/code-of-practice/?status=closed&lang=en
http://gov.wales/consultations/healthsocialcare/code-of-practice/?status=closed&lang=en
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/150610safeguardingguidanceen.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/150610safeguardingguidanceen.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part9en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part9en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part10en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part10en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part11en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151218part11en.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151005code-of-practiceen.pdf
http://gov.wales/docs/dhss/publications/151005code-of-practiceen.pdf


Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET REPORT

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Cwm Taf Carers Strategy

1.0

1.1

SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

To update Cabinet on the development of a draft Cwm Taf Carers Strategy.  It 
outlines the engagement undertaken to date and how this has influenced the 
development of a draft Strategy that is now being consulted on until 6th April.  It 
provides an opportunity for both cabinets in Merthyr Tydfil and RCT County Borough 
Councils and the University Health Board (UHB’s) Executive Board to note the 
consultation exercise and feed in any comments as appropriate.

2.0

2.1

2.2

RECOMMENDATIONS that

The Consultation exercise being undertaken on the draft Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 
until 6th April be noted.

The draft Strategy be debated and any comments made be fed into the consultation 
exercise as appropriate.

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

3.1 In response to the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWB) and the 
repeal of the Carers Strategies (Wales) Measure 2010, one of the workstreams 
included in the Cwm Taf SSWB Regional Implementation Plan requires the 
development of a new Cwm Taf wide Carers Strategy.  

Date Written March 2016
Report Author Lisa Curtis Jones
Service Area Social Services
Committee Division Portfolio
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt
Committee Date 23rd March 2016

Page 117

Agenda Item 8



3.2 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough 
Council and the UHB are committed to working together to improve the ways we 
provide support to Carers of all ages.  The SSWB Act comes into force in April 2016 
and will transform the way social services are delivered, promoting people’s 
independence to give them stronger voice and control.  The SSWB Act provides the 
legal framework for improving the well-being of people who need care and support, 
and Carers who need support.  It simplifies and consolidates the law relating to 
Carers and, for the first time, gives them equivalent rights to those that they care for.  
The Act applies to Carers of all ages.

 
3.3 The new Cwm Taf Carers Strategy will replace the separate Carers Strategies that 

had been produced by the two Local Authorities and the Cwm Taf Information and 
Consultation Strategy.  Colleagues from the Third Sector and Carers themselves 
have been part of the multi agency steering group responsible for the development 
of the Strategy.

4.0 ASSESSMENT/GOVERNANCE AND RISK ISSUES

4.1 The draft Cwm Taf Carers Strategy is attached as Appendix 1 and attention is drawn 
to the following: 

4.2 Engagement 

In working together to develop a new Carers Strategy, we particularly wanted Carers 
to help inform and shape our plans.  From the work undertaken locally to develop the 
previous Carers’ plans in RCT and Merthyr Tydfil, and from what Carers have told 
us, 5 main aims were identified as important to support Carers effectively (see the 
bullet points below). 

A short discussion paper was developed which outlined these aims and asked for 
people's views on them, together with what else we needed to take into account in 
our plans for the future. 

- Identifying Carers of all ages and recognising their contributions.
- Providing up to date, relevant and timely information, advice and assistance to 

Carers of all ages.
- Providing support, services and training to meet the needs of Carers of all ages.
- Giving Carers of all ages a voice, with more choice and control over their lives.
- Working together to make the most of our resources for the benefit of Carers of 

all ages.

The discussion paper was circulated widely throughout the Cwm Taf area and was 
presented at a number of events and meetings together with a questionnaire, 
including the UHB’s Stakeholder Reference Group.  Workshop events were 
organised to explore Carers views in more depth, including Carers Strategy 
Engagement events in both Merthyr Tydfil and RCT.  Activities were also arranged to 
enable Young Carers to have their say.  An online version of the discussion paper 
and questionnaire was available to all local residents via the Cwm Taf Community 
Engagement Hub and was promoted using Local Authority and Partner websites.

Page 118



The engagement was carried out over a 6-week period in October and November 
2015 and resulted in a total of 90 individual responses, plus a large amount of 
feedback from discussions at group meetings.  A full Engagement Analysis Report is 
available but, in addition to widespread support for the 5 aims stated above, the 
following were the most common issues raised:

 Easy access to a central point of up-to-date, easy to understand information and 
advice.

 Access to respite and short breaks to recharge batteries and more free time for 
young Carers to spend with friends/socialise.

 Professionals should respect, communicate and listen to Carers.
 Awareness raising is needed to increase knowledge and understanding of the 

caring role, both in society and with professionals.
 More practical support would ease the pressure on Carers.
 More emotional support would prolong the health and wellbeing of Carers.  
 More funding and resources is needed for Carers.
 Support Groups for both younger and older Carers are highly valued.
 Carers would like accessible and discounted transport.
 Better understanding is needed from employers and schools.
 Carers need more understanding of Carers Champions and their role.
 Better communication is needed between different agencies with automatic 

referral processes.

The findings from the engagement exercise have informed the development of the 
draft Strategy, including using quotations from the responses received. 

4.3 Consultation on draft Strategy 

The draft Strategy was submitted to the SSWB Executive Leadership Group at the 
end of February for approval to proceed to consultation and to the SSWB 
Partnership Board on 10th March.  Cabinet will wish to note the following: 

 The document covers a three year period as this was felt to be an appropriate 
timeframe given the need for various aspects of the SSWB Act and new ways of 
working to be embedded in delivery.

 The document is high level as there are a number of key aspects of the SSWB 
Act (such as the new Information, Advice and Assistance Service, and new 
arrangements for Assessment and Care Planning) which will impact on Carers 
but for which detailed work is ongoing through other workstreams to plan 
implementation arrangements.  The full implications for Carers are therefore still 
being addressed.  Following approval, a detailed Action Plan will be developed 
for implementation. 

 It is anticipated that during consultation, Carers will want to be reassured about 
the operational delivery of the Strategy and the tangible actions they feel are 
needed.  It will be important to ensure feedback and continuous engagement with 
Carers of all ages.  

Page 119



 Consultation will take place in March and the beginning of April.  The draft 
Strategy and accompanying questionnaire will be widely circulated and also 
available online via partner websites and the Cwm Taf Consultation Hub.  Both 
documents are available in Welsh. 

 The draft Strategy will be amended to reflect the outcome of the Consultation and 
the final version will be submitted to the SSWB Partnership Board and the 
individual partners for approval. 

4.4 Carers Measure Allocation 

Funding has been available from WG for the last few years to deliver the Carers 
Measure - whilst the funding has gone to the UHB (because under the Measure 
Health Boards were given the lead for implementation) the funding has to be used in 
partnership.  In Cwm Taf we have received £107k pa which was due to come to an 
end in March 2016. 

We have recently received a letter from WG indicating transitional funding of 
£1million pa for Wales in 2016/17 and 2017/18 to protect and build on progress to 
date under the Carers Measure and to prepare for the expansion of carers rights on 
the implementation of the SSWB Act.  It is not clear yet what amount of funding will 
come to the Cwm Taf region but  the funding will be provided on the understanding 
that we develop proposals setting out how we will work in partnership to implement 
the Act by:

- Strengthening the partnership approach at a local level.
- Creating opportunities to enable third sector to fully participate in the delivery. 
- Setting out how we intend to plan and deliver the increased responsibilities for 

health and the new responsibilities for local authorities. 
- Ensuring this transitional funding is used as the means to embed the practice of 

mainstreaming carers’ needs, so it is common practice.

In Cwm Taf, the allocation was primarily used to fund three Carers Measure 
coordinators, one in the UHB and contributions to the costs of one each in Merthyr 
Tydfil CBC (employed through VAMT) and RCT CBC.  We have used these posts 
very effectively to raise awareness, train staff, recruit and support Carers Champions 
across the organisations (now over 300 in Cwm Taf) including in 8 GP practices 
(which is a key area we need to take forward to cover all practices).

The new Carers Strategy we are developing will help identify priority areas for 
investment but it is anticipated that the first call on any funding would be to continue 
the coordinators roles – the UHB and Merthyr Tydfil CBC had taken a risk to 
continue funding our own Carers Coordinators until the end of August, pending the 
decision from WG to provide resources in 2016/17.

5.0 ANNUAL REPORT

5.1 Cabinet may recall that under the requirements of the Carers Measure, an Annual 
Report is required by WG at the end of May.  This report will be brought to the 
relevant meetings for approval and it is hoped that the final Strategy will also be 
available for sign off at the same time. 

Page 120



6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

6.1 The overall financial implications of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy have yet to be 
determined and will be identified for each of the individual aspects as the 
developments progress; however consideration will be given to value for money and 
whether efficiencies can be achieved through collaborative working arrangements.

6.2 Within Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council a Carers Development Officer is in 
post which is partly Core Funded (£30k) and to date partly grant funded (£20k). 
Services provided to carers has been subject to different contracts within the third 
sector.

7.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

7.1 The Single Integrated Plan & Sustainability Impact Assessment has been completed 
and the proposals positively impact on many aspects of the Corporate Plan and 
Single Integrated Plan. No negative impacts have been identified.

8.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

LISA CURTIS JONES
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES)

COUNCILLOR LINDA MATTHEWS
CABINET MEMBER FOR SOCIAL 

SERVICES

BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Appendix 1

Cwm Taf Carers Strategy
2016-2019

         

Page 123



2

Table of Contents  

1. Foreword 3

2.  Vision and Principles 4

3. Strategic Context and achievements 5

4. Carers -  An Overview 7

5. Cwm Taf Profile 8

6.  Carer Profile in Cwm Taf  9

7.  Young Carers and Young Adult Carers in Cwm Taf 11

8. Engagement with Carers and other Stakeholders 13

9. Improving outcomes for Carers – our Key Aims 14

Aim 1: Identifying Carers of all ages and recognizing their contribution 15
Aim 2: Providing up to date, relevant and timely information, advice 
and assistance to Carers of all ages 

16

Aim 3: Providing support, services and training to meet the needs of 
Carers of all ages    

17

Aim 4: Giving Carers of all ages a voice, with more choice and control 
over their lives

18

Aim 5: Working together to make the most of our resources for the 
benefit of Carers of all ages

19

10. Implementation and Delivery 20

11. Next steps 23

Page 124



3

1. Foreword

Welcome to the Draft Cwm Taf Carers Strategy for Cwm Taf University Health Board, Merthyr 
Tydfil County Borough Council and Rhondda Cynon Taff County Borough Council. 

About the proposed Carers Strategy
Cwm Taf University Health Board (UHB), Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council and Rhondda 
Cynon Taff (RCT) County Borough Council are committed to working together to improve the 
ways we provide support to Carers of all ages. We have developed this Strategy in order to 
explain how we are going to do this. The Strategy is also in response to the Social Services 
and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWB) and the repeal of the Carers Strategies (Wales) 
Measure 2010. 

The SSWB Act comes into force in April 2016. The Act will transform the way social services 
are delivered, promoting people’s independence and giving them stronger voice and control. 
The SSWB Act provides the legal framework for improving the well-being of people who need 
care and support, and also Carers who need support. It simplifies and consolidates the law 
relating to Carers and, for the first time, gives them equivalent rights to those that they care for. 
The Act applies to Carers of all ages.
 
The new Cwm Taf Carers Strategy replaces the separate Carers Strategies that had previously 
been in place in the two Local Authorities and the Cwm Taf Information and Consultation 
Strategy. Colleagues from the Third Sector and Carers themselves have been a part of the 
multi agency steering group in the development of the Strategy. We have listened to the views 
of Carers of all ages to identify what is important to them and the outcomes they want to see 
achieved.

We would like to thank everybody, for taking the time to participate in the engagement and 
consultation process. We have taken account of all the comments made during the 
development of the Strategy and we will ensure that we keep you informed of progress in 
implementing it. This Strategy will only be a success if we all commit to work together to deliver 
our shared aims and action plan, putting Carers at the heart of everything we do to support 
them.

Lynda Williams – Director of Nursing - Cwm Taf University Health Board
Lisa Curtis-Jones – Chief Officer of Social Services – Merthyr Tydfil CBC
Giovanni Isingrini – Director of Community & Children’s Services – Rhondda Cynon Taff CBC

Page 125



4

2. Vision and Principles

Throughout health and social care communities in Wales and other parts of the UK, there is an 
increasing emphasis on supporting people in ways that help them to retain their ability to live in 
the community, maximise their independence and give them choice and control over the 
services they receive.  It is also important to promote and improve health and wellbeing, 
providing preventative services and early intervention.

For many people, this will involve help and support from a Carer. This Strategy is about what 
we need to do to support Carers, understanding and meeting any needs they may have in their 
own lives, as well as working together with them to address the needs of the person they are 
caring for. Based on what Carers have told us, we have developed a Vision Statement:

Carers of all ages in Cwm Taf will be recognised and valued as being 
fundamental to supportive and resilient families and communities. They will not 
have to care alone and will be able to access information, advice and support to 
help meet their needs, empowering them to lead healthy and fulfilled lives, 
balancing their caring role and their life outside caring.

To underpin our Vision, we have identified the following principles and approach to service 
delivery which reflect what Carers say is important to them and which are also consistent with 
the approach taken in other relevant Cwm Taf plans, for example, the Joint Commissioning 
Statement for Older People: 

 Recognition and Respect 

Carers tell us that too often there is a lack of recognition and value of how much they do. 
Professionals and people in wider society do not always understand and appreciate the 
indepth knowledge Carers have of the needs of the person they are caring for, the relationship 
they have with them and how difficult it can sometimes be juggling a range of demands. 

 Working together

One of the main messages from Carers was that we need to listen to their views and 
experiences and include them effectively in decision making. Proactive, two way 
communication and involvement is vital.

 Integration of services 

There needs to be better coordination at every level between the Carer and all the 
organisations they come into contact with.   Services need to be joined up and targeted more 
appropriately so they deliver the best possible outcomes for the Carer, the person they care for 
and also make best use of our resources.

Page 126



5

 Accessibility 

Factors such as the timeliness of a response and access/ transport to services will be a key 
consideration in the way we commission and provide services.

 Tackling isolation 

A greater focus is needed on tackling the isolation and social exclusion that can sometimes be 
felt as a result of caring commitments.  The effects of limited choice, freedom and opportunity 
or the lack of understanding and discrimination faced by Carers may be different depending on 
their age, for example, Young Carers but a range of support is needed to enable a Carer to 
balance caring with activities outside their caring role.

 Focus on actions and outcomes

We must ensure that there are direct and positive benefits for Carers as a result of the new 
Strategy. We must deliver change and improved outcomes in the areas they have identified as 
important to them. 

3. Strategic context and achievements 

We need to make sure our Strategy fits with other National and Local plans and requirements.  
In particular, the SSWB Act sets out new obligations on Local Authority social services and 
their partners in relation to people who need care and support and Carers who need support 
and as a result repeals the previous Carers legislation listed below: 

 The Carers (Recognition and Services) Act 1995 

 The Carers and Disabled Children Act 2000 

 The Carers (Equal Opportunities) Act 2004 

 The Carers Strategies (Wales) Measure 2010 

The new Act gives people a stronger voice and control over the support they need to remove 
barriers to their wellbeing. It focuses on earlier intervention; increasing preventative services 
within the community and helping people maintain their independence. The Act provides a 
framework to enable people to get the help they need before their situation becomes critical. 
The Act also promotes integration between health and social care in order to achieve improved 
wellbeing outcomes and provides for a strengthened approach to safeguarding people. 

The Cwm Taf Strategy we have now developed takes account of the new SSWB Act and its 
codes of practice, regulations and standards.  There are detailed requirements in relation to 
assessments, the provision of information and advice, preventative services and duties to 
shape local services, so they are responsive and can provide the extra help people need to 
enable them to do the things that are important to them. Carers are given an equal right to 
assessment for support as those they care for.  

Page 127



6

Our Strategy is also set against the context of the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015. This requires public services to think more about and plan for the long term, working 
effectively with people, communities and each other and taking a more preventative and joined 
up approach to solving problems.  

Other local plans in Cwm Taf which are particularly relevant for Carers have also been taken 
into account. For example: 

 The Cwm Taf Joint Commissioning Statement for Older People 

 The  Cwm Taf Ageing Well Plan  

 Cwm Taf Together for Mental Health Plan 

 Single Integrated Plans for Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taff 

The UHB and the two Local Authorities also have a range of operational plans, policies and 
procedures that need to consider the issues affecting Carers and ensure they are contributing 
to the delivery of our Vision for Carers as appropriate. 

Against this background, we are building on the achievements delivered locally over the last 
three years and, in particular, implementing the requirements of the Carers Strategies (Wales) 
Measure. Examples of improvements made are included in Section 9 (under each of our Key 
Aims) but key areas of work include: 

 The identification of nearly 300 Carer Champions in a range of settings including across the 
UHB and the Local Authorities, in libraries, community and leisure centres, Job Centre Plus 
and Third sector groups.  These Champions ensure more front line public staff are Carer 
aware and can signpost to support.

 Carers are provided with up to date and relevant information which is disseminated via 
training and event days, workshops, assisted technology, A-Z guides of support services, 
dedicated Carer corners in GP surgeries, Carers support contact information on 
prescriptions and stickers on dispensary bags, posters, web-sites and social media.

 An accredited training unit for use in GP Practices has been developed to raise awareness, 
up skill primary care staff and improve support for Carers in primary care settings.

 Roll out of successful training of student nurses to other sectors including pre registration 
social workers and student teachers.

 Carers have been integral in the production of a CD, which is used to inform the training of 
staff  and also participate directly in training sessions.

 A Carers Measure Teachers guide has been produced to aid in the identification of and 
provision of support to young carers.  

 The Carer awareness training undertaken by all staff highlights the importance of early 
planned support and inclusion of Carers in decision making. 

Feedback from Welsh Government in response to the Annual Report submitted by Cwm Taf 
partners in May 2015 concluded that it “provides a detailed and robust analysis of the 
achievements to date and an insight into the favourable improvements hoped to be made in 
the future.  A number of case studies have provided the qualitative information to help measure 
the outcome for Carers. There is clear evidence that the implementation of the Carers Measure 
has made a real difference to the lives of Carers in Cwm Taf”.

Page 128



7

This progress is reinforced by comments we have received from Carers and staff:

“I have experienced lots of problems over the years with medical appointments but since the 
implementation of a Carers Champion at our surgery, it has made life so much easier and less 
stressful. We now have a fast track facility and are seen in a far more “autistic friendly” 
environment. It makes such a difference.”  Carer

“The Carers Project is a very special part of our care. Without it we wouldn’t find out what is 
available to us. The organization is wonderful.” Carer

“I feel more confident about my role as Carers Champion. It’s so nice to have the information to 
hand and know where to signpost my customers for further support.” Job Centre Plus Carers 
Champion 

“Take a look at the Carer aware E learning - I found it really helpful, especially for the 
completion of Carer Assessments.”  Social Worker 

4. Carers: an Overview 

The SSWB Act defines a Carer as a person of any age who provides or intends to provide care 
for an adult or disabled child but who is unpaid except for Carers related allowances. The Act 
has removed the previous requirement that Carers must be providing “a substantial amount of 
care on a regular basis”. 

Alongside this legal definition, we recognise that there is no typical Carer. Carers of all ages, 
whether Young Carers, Young Adult Carers, Parent Carers of children with a disability, working 
age or older Carers,  look after family, partners or friends in need of help because they are ill, 
frail or have a disability. The care they provide can be physical, emotional or social. Carers are 
individuals who may not see themselves as Carers, but consider themselves above all a 
parent, wife, husband, partner, son, daughter, friend or neighbour. 

Carers’ circumstances vary enormously, as can the type of support they give. Many Carers live 
in the same house as the person they care for. Others live nearby and visit regularly. Some live 
a distance away and visit weekly or monthly. Some provide care for a limited period of time or 
as part of an informal family support network. Some provide care for more than one person. 
Caring often impacts on the whole family and not just on one person. 

Caring can be a gradual process or it can happen overnight. For example, someone can be 
plunged into caring when a partner has a car crash or a stroke. Other people move more 
gradually into a caring role when a relative’s health deteriorates over time, which they see as 
part and parcel of family life. They don’t recognise that as the person they look after needs 
increasingly more support, they are becoming a Carer. 

Caring for someone can be both physically exhausting and emotionally stressful. Carers often 
feel isolated, unsupported and alone. Many Carers may themselves have poorer health, a 
stress-related illness or long-term health problem as a result of caring without adequate 
support. 

Page 129



8

Carers often experience a lack of financial security because of the cost of caring. There can be 
particular difficulties for Carers accessing support to enable them to balance caring with work. 
For Young Carers, taking on extra responsibilities at such a young age make it particularly 
difficult to deal with school life and participate in everyday social and leisure activities that other 
young people take for granted.

5. Cwm Taf Profile 

In order to develop the Strategy and the Action plan that will sit alongside it, we need to 
understand the local population, both in terms of Carers and the people they are caring for.

Demography

The resident population of the UHB area is estimated to have been 295,953 in 2014, 
accounting for 10 per cent of the Welsh population. Cwm Taf is geographically the second 
smallest Health Board area in Wales, but also the second most densely populated area. 
Compared to the Wales average, there are over three times as many people per square km 
living in the UHB area. Within Cwm Taf, 20% of the population live within the County Borough 
of Merthyr Tydfil with the remaining population (80%)  living within Rhondda Cynon Taf.

Age of the Population

The age profile of our population is similar to Wales but with slightly higher proportions of 
children under 5 years old and in the 20-44 year age group, and slightly higher proportions of 
people aged 60 and over.

Current projections see a rise in the total resident population of Cwm Taf to 298,600 by the 
year 2033. This is primarily due to an increase in the older population. The number of residents
aged 75 years and over is projected to rise from 23,300 (7.9% of total population) in 2013 to 
37,100 (12.4% of total population) in 2033. The number of people aged 65 and over resident in 
Cwm Taf is projected to increase by 37% over the same period. 

Overall, our population is living longer and the increase in elderly population is likely to result in 
an increase in the prevalence of chronic conditions such as circulatory and respiratory 
diseases and cancers. The proportion of the population aged over 75 who live alone is higher 
in RCT and Merthyr Tydfil than other parts of Wales. All these factors will have implications for 
the number of people who may need care and the age of Carers. 

Deprivation

Overall the health of our population is improving however, within the UHB, we have areas of 
significant deprivation and far too many people still experience poor health. Many of the 
causes of poor health are difficult to tackle. Cwm Taf is a socio-economically deprived area, 
with low levels of employment and educational attainment. These factors, along with other 
aspects of the physical environment, impact on the lifestyles of people living in the area. In 
2010, over 40% of the populations of Rhondda and Cynon Valleys and Merthyr Tydfil lived in 
the most deprived areas of Wales. This results in a higher burden of ill health which has 
implications for both Carers and the people they care for. 

Page 130



9

Life Expectancy

There is a significant variation in people’s life expectancy across Wales, with those living in the 
most deprived communities living shorter lives than those in the least deprived areas. In 2012-
14, male life expectancy at birth in Wales was 78.5 years. This was less in both RCT (77.0 
years) and in Merthyr Tydfil (77.3 years). Similarly female life expectancy is lower -  in RCT  it 
was 80.9 years and in Merthyr Tydfil 80.5 years whilst the Welsh average was 82.3 years.

The difference in life expectancy between males in the most and least deprived areas of Cwm 
Taf is 8 years. In other words, a male born in the least deprived area of Cwm Taf can expect to 
live 8 years longer than a male born in the most deprived area. For females the equivalent 
difference in life expectancy is 6 years.

Healthy Life Expectancy 

Deprivation not only limits life expectancy, it is also a determinant of the age at which we lose 
our good health. This occurs 10-15 years earlier in those living in the most deprived 
circumstances compared with the most affluent. Individuals no longer living in ‘good health’ are 
also more likely to have multiple morbidities and for mental health issues to be one of their 
diagnoses.

In Cwm Taf, the healthy life expectancy for women (2005-09) is 60.6 years, the lowest in 
Wales, and statistically significantly shorter than all other Health Board areas. For Cwm Taf 
males, the equivalent is just 60 years, again the lowest in Wales and statistically significantly 
shorter than all other Health Board areas.  

A male born in Cwm Taf can expect to live 75.4 years (the Welsh average is 77 years), of 
which only 60 years are in “good” health. Males living in the most deprived areas of Cwm Taf 
live almost a third of their lives (23 years) with a limiting long term illness or disability.

The impact of living for longer in poor health on our health, social care and third sector 
services, and communities, including Carers, cannot be ignored. Latest statistics predict an 
increasing proportion of people aged over 65 in the population. In particular, the rising costs of 
dementia (human, societal and economic) will be felt as our older population increases and the 
number of people becoming care dependent increases. This will have a significant impact on 
individuals, carers and health and social care services.

There are consistently higher proportions of people reporting key illnesses and unhealthy 
lifestyles in Cwm Taf than across Wales (Welsh Health Survey). The prevalence of chronic 
conditions, disabilities and mental illness is higher in Cwm Taf than the Wales average and this 
is likely to be an underestimate of the true prevalence in the population. All of this impacts on 
Carers. 

6. Carer Profile in Cwm Taf

The 2011 census showed that there were 370, 230 Carers in Wales. This had increased by 9% 
since the 2001 census. Carers provided 96% of all care in the community. For Cwm Taf the 
2011 census showed:

Page 131



10

 12.6% of the population in Merthyr Tydfil and 12.5% in Rhondda Cynon Taf provided care 
to a family member, friend or neighbour.

 In RCT there were 29,640 Carers and in Merthyr there were 7,427 Carers. The combined 
total of Carers in the Cwm Taf area was 37,067. 

 The percentage change in the number of Carers of all ages providing care in Cwm Taf from 
the 2001 census to the 2011 census was 3%. This included an equal increase of 3% in 
both males and females providing a caring role.

It is probable that the number of Carers is even higher, as the census indicated there 
are over double the number of people reporting a long term limiting illness compared 
with the number of people reporting themselves as a Carer.  Whilst not everyone with a 
limiting long term illness will have a Carer, it is surprising the number of people 
reporting themselves as a Carer is not higher. Also many people may not consider 
themselves a Carer in terms of the census return. 

Many Carers provide a significant amount of time caring. A total of 11,752 Carers provide over 
50 hours of care per week. This has increased by 8% in Cwm Taf from the 2001 to the 2011 
Census. This evidences that Cwm Taf Carers are providing more substantial levels of care, 
which can often impact on the health of the Carer.

Breakdown of hours of care provided by Carers in Cwm Taf

Table 5.1
Local 
Authority

Provides 
care 1-19 
hours

Provides 
care 20-49 
hours

Provides 
care 50+

Total 
number of 
Carers per 
area

Merthyr 
Tydfil

3,785 1,098 2,159 7,042

Rhondda 
Cynon Taf

16,363 3,888 8,747 28,998

Total 20,148 4,986 10,906 36,040
* Data taken from the Census 2001

Table 5.2

* Data taken from the Census 2011

      

Local 
Authority

Provides 
care 1-19 
hours

Provides 
care 20-49 
hours

Provides 
care 50+

Total 
number of 
Carers per 
area

Merthyr 
Tydfil

3,779 1,285 2,363 7,427

Rhondda 
Cynon Taf

15,671 4,580 9,389 29,640

Total 19,450 5,865 11,752 37,067

Page 132



11

Figures from the Office for National Statistics show that the rate change in the number of 
Carers by age group is most significant for people over the age of 65. From 2001- 2011, there 
was an increase of 32% in both RCT and Merthyr Tydfil in the number of Carers over 65. 

As a very general guide, the Survey of Carers in Households  in England (2009-10) found that 
Carers were more likely to be women than men; 60% of Carers in England were women; 
Carers were most likely to be aged 45-64 (42%); a quarter (25%) were aged 65 or over. 
Around half (46%) of Carers were in paid employment, 27% were retired from paid work and 
13% were looking after their home or family; 92% of Carers were white, while 8% were from 
black and minority ethnic (BME) backgrounds.

Future Impact for Cwm Taf Carers

The Census 2011 figures show us that the amount of time that Carers spend caring for 
someone has increased sharply since the 2001 census. Undoubtedly, with an ageing 
population this will increase further over the next 10 years, thus placing more demand on 
Carers. 

Carers who provide over 50 hours care per week are twice as likely to suffer from poor health 
as other people. The Office of National Statistics found that Carers who do not get a break are 
twice as likely to suffer from mental health problems as those that do. 

Along with this, statistics show that Mental Illness has a higher prevalence in Cwm Taf 
compared to the national average and also the healthy life expectancy is many years below 
the national average, which further suggests that Carers in Cwm Taf will be caring earlier and 
for longer periods.

It is critical that Cwm Taf Carers are recognised throughout the life of their caring role in order 
for them to receive the support needed to carry out their caring role effectively with minimal 
impact on their own health.

7. Young Carers and Young Adult Carers in Cwm Taf
As with Adult Carers, there is no typical Young Carer. They may be in a lone-parent household 
looking after a mother with, for example, multiple sclerosis; they may be in a two-parent family 
but still be the primary Carer for the sick or disabled parent(s); they may be supporting a 
brother or sister with special needs. Many Young Carers are the primary Carers – the only 
person providing care – while others share the responsibility with other family members. They 
have needs which are unique to them as children and young people. Young Carers have adult 
caring responsibilities while having the legal status of children.

The Impact of Caring

There are positive effects of caring that are reported by Young Carers themselves such as 
learning practical skills, feeling good about themselves because they are supporting someone 
close to them and an increased sense of responsibility. However Young Carers often miss out 
on many everyday activities that other young people take for granted. The impact of this can 
include:

Page 133



12

 Educational problems (Young Carers are often not recognised by professional staff).
 Bullying.
 Limited opportunities, horizons and aspirations.
 Limited opportunities for social and leisure activities.
 A lack of understanding from peers and restricted friendships.
 Isolation, a feeling of exclusion and being outsiders.
 ‘Stigma by association’ related to physical disability and in particular mental health.
 Fearing what professionals might do.
 Living with silence and fears.
 Health and emotional difficulties including self harm.
 Unexpected and early rise to adulthood often resulting in difficulties in transition to 

becoming an adult.

Young Carers

In 2011, there were 177,918 young unpaid Carers (5 to 17-years-old) in England and Wales. 
Of these, 54% were girls and 46% were boys. Overall, Wales had the highest proportion of 
young Carers providing unpaid care, at 2.6%.

An increase in the number of unpaid Carers aged 5 to 17 was observed in all regions in 
England and Wales between 2001 and 2011. In England and Wales combined, the number of 
young unpaid Carers increased by almost 19% during this period. 

Young unpaid Carers in Wales who were providing care for 50 or more hours a week were 
4.4% more likely than those providing no care to report their general health as ‘Not Good’.

Number of Young Unpaid Carers in Wales

Table 5.3
2001 2011 Percentage Increase

Wales 10,741 11,555 7.6%

Data taken from Census 

Breakdown of hours of care provided by Young unpaid Carers in England and Wales

Table 5.4

Data taken from Census 2011

      The 2011 census estimated that there were 177,918 Young Carers in the UK, including over 
15,000 caring for over 50 hours per week. However, the Princess Royal Trust for Carers 
indicates that “the real number of young Carers is much higher because the census makes no 
mention of alcohol or drug problems and many Young Carers are ‘hidden’ due to the stigma 
attached to these conditions”.

Provides 
care 1-19 
hours

Provides 
care 20-49 
hours

Provides 
care 50+

Total 
number of 
Carers per 
area

England & Wales 142,768 19,422 15,728 177,918

Page 134



13

A survey carried out by the BBC /University of Nottingham, published in 2010, revealed that 
over 700,000 children in the UK could be Young Carers. This is 4 times as many as previously 
thought. If the survey reflects the UK as a whole, this figure could be more than 4000 in Cwm 
Taf.
Young Adult Carers

Young Adult Carers (YAC’s) take on significant additional responsibilities which can make the 
typical transitions from childhood into adulthood especially complex and challenging.The 
difficulties they experience as a result of their caring role can have significant and long term 
negative impacts on their confidence, socialisation, their engagement with education and 
employment and their overall physical and emotional wellbeing.

 A Carers Trust Study of 16-25 year olds YAC found that over 45% reported a mental health 
problem and 29% had dropped out of college/university because of their caring role. 

Breakdown of hours of care provided by Young Adult Carers aged 16-24 

Table 5.5

Provides 
care 1-19 
hours

Provides 
care 20-49 
hours

Provides 
care 50+

Total 
number 
Caring

Proportion of this 
age group that 
provide informal 
care

Wales 9,675 1,697 1,690 13,062 5.7%

UK 173,249 29,128 26,941 229,318 5.3% (UK average)

*Data taken from the Carers Trust ‘Young Adult Carers in the UK’ Report

8.  Engagement with Carers and other Stakeholders 
Cwm Taf recognises the importance of Carers getting their voices heard and that both Carers 
and service users are engaged and consulted to ensure that their needs are being met. It is 
essential that Carers are recognised as key partners in care and that their invaluable 
perspective is taken into account when developing future services.

From the work undertaken locally to develop the previous Carers’ plans in RCT and Merthyr 
Tydfil, and from what Carers have told us more recently (for example, in the RCT Support for 
Carers Survey undertaken from April to June 2015 which had 349 returned surveys), 5 main 
aims were identified as important to support Carers effectively. A short discussion paper was 
developed which outlined these 5 aims and we asked for people's views on them.  We wanted 
to find out whether Carers agreed with the suggested aims and what else we needed to take 
into account in our plans for the future. In order to get feedback on these aims and to gather 
input for future plans, we undertook engagement with Carers in October and November 2015.

As part of this engagement, Carers were involved in a variety of focus groups, workshops and 
meetings. Information and questionnaires were also provided online on partner websites and 

Page 135



14

through the Cwm Taf Consultation Hub. The use of social media and other communication 
mechanisms were also used. 

What Carers have told us so far

A detailed Engagement Analysis report was produced in December 2015. The engagement 
feedback highlighted the following areas that Carers feel are important to them and which we 
have therefore considered in developing our Strategy. Where the issues raised were not 
appropriate to be dealt with through this Strategy or were linked to specific operational delivery 
of services, we have passed the information to other relevant officers to inform their actions 
and plans. 

The most common issues raised during the engagement were regarding:

 Easy access to a central point of up-to-date, easy to understand information and advice.
 Access to respite and short breaks to recharge batteries and more free time for young 

Carers to spend with friends/socialise.
 Professionals should respect, communicate and listen to Carers.
 Awareness raising is needed to increase knowledge and understanding of the caring role, 

both in society and with professionals.
 More practical support would ease the pressure on Carers.
 More emotional support would prolong the health and wellbeing of Carers.  
 More funding and resources is needed for Carers.
 Support Groups for both younger and older Carers are highly valued.
 Carers would like accessible and discounted transport.
 Better understanding is needed from employers and schools.
 Carers need more understanding of Carers Champions and their role.
 Better communication is needed between different agencies with automatic referral 

processes.

9. Improving outcomes for Carers – Our Key aims 
Having reviewed our current services, the developments we have made implementing the 
Carers Measure from 2012-2015,  the requirements of the Social Services and Wellbeing Act 
and taking on board the views expressed during engagement with Carers and staff, we have 
developed the following 5 key aims:  

 Aim 1.  Identifying Carers of all ages and recognising their contributions.
 Aim 2.  Providing up to date, relevant and timely information, advice & assistance to Carers 

of all ages. 
 Aim 3.  Providing support, services & training to meet the needs of Carers of all ages.
 Aim 4. Giving Carers of all ages a voice, with more choice & control over their lives.
 Aim 5.  Working together to make the most of our resources for the benefit of Carers of all 

ages.

Page 136



15

The following sections outline where we are now and an overview of what we intend to do.  
Detailed actions will be included in a separate Action Plan to be developed once the Strategy 
has been approved. The quotes in italics have been taken from responses to the engagement 
with Carers referred to above.

9.1Identifying Carers of all ages and recognising their contributions

By this we mean raising awareness amongst the public and with our staff about who Carers 
are, what they do and how important it is to identify them and understand their caring role.  
This will ensure they are aware of the support available to them. We must recognise the value 
of their caring role and that they are key partners in the care they provide, involving them in 
decisions that affect them and the person they care for.

“Professionals need to recognise that many Carers are giving a lifetime commitment and need 
support in maintaining their caring roles.”

“Management, GPs and all agencies really need to fully realise the extreme hardship 
associated with caring.”

“The recognition should be worldwide, respected and have perks!” (Young Carer)

“Ensure that the role of Carer is understood more widely in society, that each Carer has 
different responsibilities and needs.”

Where are we now? 
 Developed a network of Carers Champions to raise awareness and profile the role of 

Carers. There are already over 300 Champions in settings across health, social care, 
education, housing, leisure, Job Centres and in the voluntary sector. 

 Developed an e learning tool for training staff across all sectors to raise awareness and 
knowledge of Carers issues.

 Undertaken training for students (nursing, social care and teacher) at the University of 
South Wales, Coleg y Cymoedd and Merthyr Tydfil College so our future workforce is Carer 
aware.

 Development of Teachers Guide.
 Development of a range of digital Carer Stories for use in raising awareness and training.
 
What do we want to do?  
 Continued recruitment and support of more Carers Champions across all organisations.
 Annual Carers Champions conference to share information and best practice across the 

network. 
 Continued training for staff in the statutory and voluntary sectors to raise their awareness of 

Carers and how to support them, including the new training modules being developed 
nationally in relation to the SSWB Act. 

 Continued training of students (nursing, social care and teacher) so our future workforce 
are Carer Aware.

 Involvement of Carers in training staff, either in person or through the use of Carer stories, 
DVDs etc. 

 Roll out of Cwm Taf Award scheme for Carers Champions in GP Practices.

Page 137



16

 Roll out of RCT Schools Award to increase Carer awareness in schools amongst teachers 
and pupils.

 

9.2Providing up to date, relevant and timely information, advice and assistance to 
Carers of all ages

By this we mean making it easier for people to find out about care and support services 
available in their area, both for themselves as a Carer and for the person they care for. 

Getting the right information and advice at the right time can make a huge difference. When 
people are first faced with a caring situation it is critical that they are given the advice and 
information they need as quickly as possible so that they have access to help and support, 
making better decisions for themselves and their families. Helping people to realise they are 
Carers as early as possible helps ensure they don’t miss out on essential information, advice 
and help for years because they simply don’t realise they are Carers. Similarly if someone has 
been caring for a while, it is important to ensure they are up to date about the support available 
and how to access it. It may be practical and financial information or advice on the impact of 
caring on health and wellbeing. Whatever the information, it must be provided in a variety of 
understandable formats, accessible locally and in a timely manner to help Carers make 
informed choices. 

We recognise that accessing information and advice at an early stage gives Carers choice and 
control over their lives and often means that Carers can continue to work. From research, we 
know that Carers who do not get the right information often give up work to look after their 
relative and as a result pay heavy financial, social and health penalties.

Information, advice and assistance services can play an important role in signposting Carers 
and others to preventative care and support services in their community without the need for 
formalised assessments.

“Literature to be easier to understand for my age group.” (Young Carer)

“One point of contact – someone who can give you basic information and you can go back to 
with any queries and not be passed from one person to another and back again.”

Where are we now?
 Developed a Cwm Taf wide Carers A-Z Guide  - over 30,000 have been distributed. 
 Young Carers Information Guide. 
 Carers “business” card. 
 Information page for Carers with contact numbers in annual 50+ Calendar -  10,000 copies 

distributed across Cwm Taf. 
 Regular Carers Newsletters and leaflets made available in the community and accessible 

online.
 Carers Notice Boards in GP surgeries.
 Carers Support Information in community pharmacies and stickers on prescriptions. 
 Information sharing events eg in Carers Week, Big Bite RCT, Hospital atriums.
 

Page 138



17

What do we want to do? 
 Implement the new Information, Advice and Assistance (IAA) service required by the SSWB 

Act ie: 

 Information – this will be quality data that provides support to a person to help them 
make an informed choice about their well-being. This will include information about how 
the care and support system works, the availability of preventative services, financial 
information, information on direct payments, information on charges, and other matters 
that would enable someone to plan how to meet their care and support needs, or 
support needs if they are a Carer

 Advice - this will be a way of working co-productively with a person to explore the 
options available. This will require staff to undertake a proportionate assessment, 
making sure that the enquirer understands what is available to them, and that they are 
actively involved in making decisions about what matters to them and the personal 
outcomes they wish to achieve. 

 Assistance, if needed, will follow the provision of information and advice. Assistance 
will involve another person taking action with the enquirer to access care and support, 
or a carer to access support.

The new IAA service must be:
 Welcoming and easy to use, accurate and up to date, impartial and have the best interests 

of the individual.
 Available through a variety of media: online, social media, telephone, face to face, 

outreach, posters and publications (Welsh, easy read, child friendly).
 Respond to web based enquires within 3 working days.
 Provide advocacy support for those who require it or support for specific groups such as 

deaf blind. 

9.3 Providing support, services and training to meet the needs of Carers of all ages. 

By this we mean enabling Carers to access appropriate support to help them carry out their 
caring role effectively and meet a range of needs, including maintaining their physical and 
emotional health and wellbeing, accessing education, training and employment opportunities 
and participation in activities outside their caring role.

“Practical help. Caring for elderly relatives and young children and working full time caused ill 
health in my case. Juggling roles was stressful.” 

“Provide us with time as a caring employer to do what is necessary.” 

Many Carers referred to the need for respite care to enable the Carer to “recharge their 
batteries” but also stressed that they needed to have confidence in the care being provided to 
the person they care for.

“Respite care for the cared for when the going gets tough.”

“Carers need to have a break from caring, so extra support is needed.” 
“Carers need to have a break from caring.”

Page 139



18

“Support groups offer the chance to offload, be with like minded people and share 
experiences.”

“Carers would benefit from a call once a month from the agency they were involved with or a 
befriending service. Just that link to someone remembering/caring about the Carer.”

“Carer support needs to be in all areas - some people are unable to travel.”

“Transport is a big problem for me and my wife as she is in a wheelchair.”

Where are we now?

 RCT Carers support project including a Carers Freephone line (0808 100 1801) available 
from 9-5pm, 5 days a week to take people’s queries and signpost or refer Carers on for 
further support. There is also a Project Officer within Adult Services and a dedicated Young 
Carers Assessment and Development Worker, a Young Carers Support Worker and a 
Young Adult Carers Development Worker. In addition to this there is a Parent Carer Worker 
who supports parents of disabled children and young people up to the age of 25.

 Local initiatives for Carers such as Carers Emergency Card scheme, discounted access to 
leisure services in RCT.

 Merthyr Tydfil Carer support including a dedicated Carers Information and Development 
Officer and dedicated Carers services delivered as part of Merthyr Tydfil Carers Strategy 
Network.

 Training need analysis undertaken with Carers and a range of training courses provided 
from manual handling to stress management. 

 Flexible working policies for employees of the UHB and Local Authorities to support our 
staff who are Carers to maintain their caring role. 

What do we want to do?
 Implement the new assessment arrangements for Carers required by the SSWB Act. Many 

Carers will receive support through the provision of the IAA services and/or through 
signposting to community based preventative services as described above. Many of these 
services will be provided through voluntary sector and community groups. 
Where there is a need for a Carer to have a Care and Support plan, this will be developed 
with the Carer and will be centred around them, their identified needs and what outcomes 
they want to achieve. 

 Develop and commission a wider range of preventative services to promote health and 
wellbeing, early intervention and minimise the escalation of crises.

9.4Giving Carers of all ages a voice, with more choice and control over their lives

We recognise the need to improve Carer involvement in decision making within Cwm Taf to 
ensure that Carers are valued as partners in care and that the care and support they provide is 
recognised.

By this we mean ensuring Carers are involved in and consulted on issues and decisions that 
affect their daily lives and the lives of the person they care for, for example in relation to 
individual care plans. In addition we must enable their voice to be heard in the planning, design 
and delivery of future services that affect them. 

Page 140



19

By coming together as a supportive community of Carers, people can share what is on their 
mind and talk about issues that affect them with people who understand and can be of help. 

“Respect and listen to the Carers knowledge and experience.”

“Listen, listen, listen.”

“Things flow better when everyone sings from the same hymn sheet.”

“Someone to talk to and share concerns.”

“Get away from one size fits all. Need a ‘doing with’, not ‘doing to’ service.”

Where are we now?
 Carers representatives on a range of planning groups.
 Carers participation in awareness raising and training events for staff.
 Undertaken engagement with Carers on the development of the draft Strategy.
 Undertaken a Support for Carers Survey in 2015. 
 Developed a range of Digital Carers stories, providing case studies which can be used in 

training and to raise the profile of Carers and their issues.

What do we want to do?
 Implement the requirements of the SSWB Act, working with Carers on outcomes they want 

to achieve.
 Ensure that all service providers commissioned by the LAs and UHB have robust contract 

monitoring arrangements that demonstrate Carer and Service User involvement. 

9.5Working together to make the most of our resources for the benefit of Carers of all 
ages 

By this we mean partnership working between Carers, statutory and voluntary organisations to 
create and sustain an environment where adults, young people and families have access to 
information, support and opportunities relevant to their caring roles. We will deliver services in 
a joined up manner to meet the needs of individuals and maximise the resources available to 
ensure Carers and their families achieve a greater degree of independence and improved 
quality of life.

It is impossible to consider the future without reference to the challenging financial 
circumstances in which we are operating.  Working more efficiently and with fewer resources 
but with increasing demand will be a feature for public services during the life of this Strategy. 

We will therefore need to ensure we are making the best use of all our resources and can 
provide sustainable services. To do this will involve a range of service reviews or service 
redesign, workforce modernisation and performance improvement. 

“Provide joined up thinking, with all agencies aware of everything that’s available and how to 
access it.”

“Coordinate doctors/hospital appointments to reduce the amount of time I need to take off 
work”

Page 141



20

 “Initiatives, strategies are put in place. However on times they do not filter down to grass roots 
level.”  

Where are we now?
 Developed the roles of Carers Measure Coordinators working together across the two Local 

Authorities and the Health Boards in a consistent and joined up way.
 Shared best practice across sectors and agencies at the annual Carers Champions 

conference which involves statutory sector, Third Sector and Carers  -  120 people 
attended in 2015. 

 Worked in partnership to develop a Cwm Taf wide Carers Strategy which will help focus 
and maximise the impact of our efforts to support Carers, rather than have a number of 
disparate and uncoordinated single agency plans. 

What do we want to do?
 All partners will contribute to the development of the Population Needs Assessment 

(required as part of the SSWB Act) which will inform priority areas for investment to meet 
the needs of carers for support. 

 “Make every contact count” by maximising opportunities from other programmes of work eg 
Health and Housing project in Tylorstown, UHB’s Inverse Care Law project  to  identify and 
capture views from Carers and look for new ways to meet their needs.

 Make more effective use of a range of anti poverty programmes (including Communities 
First and Families First) to provide community based interventions which will help address 
the needs of Carers.

10. Implementation and Delivery 

To achieve the Vision set out in the Strategy will require a multi agency and partnership 
approach. A cross section of agencies will need to commit to the delivery of the Strategy. Each 
has a role to play enabling Carers and the cared for to live as independently as possible and 
maintain a good quality of life.

We will establish a Cwm Taf Carers Strategy Steering Group to be responsible for overseeing 
the delivery of the Strategy and monitoring performance.  The Group will include Carers 
representatives. 

Annual Action Plans

The Cwm Taf Carers Strategy is not a fixed and final plan but a framework which sets out what 
will be taken forward over the next three years. Annual Action plans will be developed which 
will detail key actions, lead responsibilities, timescales, resource implications and performance 
measures, which will focus on the outcomes we want to achieve.

Outcomes we want to achieve and monitoring progress

The success of this Strategy and the benefits it delivers will be reviewed regularly. It will be a 
partnership plan and a variety of staff within a wide range of sectors will be responsible for 
working in collaboration to implement it effectively.

Page 142



21

Progress will be reported to the Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board, as 
well as the individual organisations ie the two Local Authorities and the Health Board. We will 
also have to report on our plans for Carers to Welsh Government.  

Below are the outcomes that through a multi-agency approach we want to achieve in order to 
meet our Vision and Aims. An outcome is not in itself a measure, so in order to be accountable 
and to assess how effective we are in achieving the desired outcomes, we will use 
performance measures and indicators. This enables us to quantify achievement and measure 
change. 

Some of these measures have been set nationally by the Welsh Government as part of the 
new SSWB Act. Annual Questionnaires are also required under the Act.  Others are measures 
we have identified locally as being important. Further work on performance management is 
being undertaken as part of the plan to implement the SSWB Act across the region. This may 
affect the measures we need to include in the Carers Strategy and the mechanisms needed for 
capturing and recording information. We will therefore need to review and update this aspect of 
the Strategy and Action plans as appropriate. 

Aim 1.

Recognition  
and Value 

Outcome 
More Carers of all ages are identified and recognised for their 
caring role.

How will we know how we are doing?

Increase in the number of Carers Champions (Local measure).

Increase in the number of staff trained in Carer Awareness (Local 
measure).

Increase in the number of accredited GP Practices (Local 
measure).

Increase in the number of Carers recorded. 

The percentage of people reporting they were treated with dignity 
and respect (National measure).

Aim 2.

Information, 
Advice and 
Assistance 

Outcome 
More Carers of all ages have access to up to date, relevant and 
timely information, advice and assistance.

How will we know how we are doing?

People report they have received the right information or advice 
when they needed it (National measure). 

Data and feedback from IAA service. 

Page 143



22

Aim 3.

Support and 
services 

Outcome 
More Carers of all ages receive the support, services and training 
to meet their needs.

How will we know how we are doing?

Carers reporting they feel supported to continue in their caring 
role (National measure).

Increase in the number of Carers referred to Carers support 
projects and feedback on effectiveness of services.

For Carers with a care and support plan.

The percentage of people with a care and support plan reporting 
that they have been given written information of their named 
worker in social services (National measure).

The percentage of people who are satisfied with care and support 
that they received (National measure).

Aim 4 

Voice, Choice 
and Control

Outcome 
More Carers of all ages feel they have a voice, with more choice 
and control over their lives.

How will we know how we are doing?

The percentage of people reporting they felt involved in any 
decisions made about their care and support (National measure).

Increase in the number of Carers of all ages who report having a 
positive care/life balance (Local measure).

Carer involvement/feedback provided as part of the SLAs for 
commissioned services. 

Increase in Carer representation on planning groups, training 
sessions and appointments.

Aim 5

Working 
together 

Outcome 
More Carers of all ages feel part of and experience a seamless 
service that helps them achieve the things that matter to them and 
the person they care for.

How will we know how we are doing?

Carers reporting they felt involved in designing the care and 
support plan for the person that they care for (National measure). 

Page 144



23

Accountability

The individual organisations which make up the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy Steering Group 
remain accountable for the delivery of services for which they are responsible for and are 
always responsible to their own governing authority.  In addition, however, they are 
accountable to one another and as a Partnership to develop and deliver the Cwm Taf Carers 
Strategy.

11. Next steps 

We will consult on the draft Strategy and reflect on the comments received before it is finalised 
and approved by the Local Authorities and the Health Board. 

 Copies of the draft Cwm Taf Carers Strategy and a questionnaire seeking your views 
are available on the following websites:

 www.rctcbc.gov.uk 

 www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 www.vamt.net

 www.interlink.org.uk

 www.cwmtaflhb.wales.nhs.uk

PLEASE RESPOND WITH ANY COMMENTS BY 6th APRIL 2016

If you require further information, please contact the Head of Health and Wellbeing Manager at 
Cwm Taf LHB on 01443 744800.

 or e-mail: Nicola.Davies12@wales.nhs.uk 

This Strategy may also be made available in other languages and formats upon request.

Page 145

http://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/
http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/
http://www.vamt.net/
http://www.interlink.org.uk/
http://www.cwmtaflhb.wales.nhs.uk/
mailto:Nicola.Davies12@wales.nhs.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen

Cyfarthfa Castle Phase 1 Redevelopment – Design 
Team Appointment 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT

1.1 On 22nd October 2015, Cabinet approved the award of the design services contract 
for the redevelopment of Cyfarthfa Castle Phase 1 to Purcell.  The award was 
approved at a cost of £204,037.62 for RIBA Stages 1-3.

1.2 A Round 1 Heritage Grants funding application was submitted to Heritage Lottery 
Fund (HLF), in partnership with the Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust.

1.3 The Round 1 HLF Heritage Grants application was submitted to HLF by 6th August 
2015 and on 17th November it was confirmed that the Council were unsuccessful 
with their application due to limited funding being available from HLF.  It was advised 
that the application be resubmitted imminently therefore it was submitted to HLF in 
December with the result due on 22nd March 2016.

1.4 The redevelopment was procured via an open OJEU procedure as detailed in the 
previous cabinet report.

1.5 The cabinet report that was presented to award the contract was based on an 
incorrect figure in error.  The original value of £204,037.62 should have been 
£261,096.27 based on a 9.89% fee for RIBA stages 1-3 – the overall cost of the 
project that was clarified was £8.8 million.

1.6 The overall result in terms of ranking was not affected by the clarification.

Date Written 8th March 2016 
Report Author Zoe Thomas/Paul Davies 
Service Area Community Regeneration 
Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt  
Committee Date 23rd March 2016 

Page 147

Agenda Item 9



2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

2.1 On 22nd October 2015, Cabinet approved the award of the design services contract 
for the redevelopment of Cyfarthfa Castle Phase 1 to Purcell.  The award was 
approved at a cost of £204,037.62 for RIBA Stages 1-3. 

3.0 HERITAGE LOTTERY FUND BID 

3.1 A Round 1 Heritage Grants funding application was submitted to Heritage Lottery 
Fund (HLF), in partnership with the Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust.  The Local Authority 
has taken the lead on the development of the funding application and the overall 
programme/project proposal with the support of the Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Trust, who 
propose to take control of operational activities once all funding has been secured 
and the restoration is complete.

3.2 The Round 1 HLF Heritage Grants application was submitted to HLF by 6th August 
2015 and on 17th November it was confirmed that the Council were unsuccessful 
with their application due to limited funding being available from HLF.  It was advised 
that the application be resubmitted imminently therefore it was submitted to HLF in 
December with the result due on 22nd March 2016.  Should approval be granted, a 
part time Project Manager will be funded and further development fees will be 
awarded to match against funds that have already been secured from the Capital 
Programme.  All funding secured through Round 1 will support the longer term 
development fee costs required to proceed through to detailed design stage for the 
Round 2 Submission.

3.3 A three month OJEU tender notice to commission a multi-disciplinary design and 
consultant team ran parallel to the development and submission of the HLF funding 
application in September.  This process was undertaken in advance to scale back 
programme timelines so that a design team will be in place to commence detailed 
design in conjunction with a decision from HLF.  Although the result was 
unsuccessful, it has enabled the Design Team to progress and concept designs are 
currently being developed.  This element has been funded through the Capital 
Programme. 

3.4 This design commission award will develop and deliver the first phase of a 
comprehensive restoration and redevelopment of Cyfarthfa Castle.  Phase 1 seeks 
to restore the northwest range of the building.  New uses for this section of the 
building will include the Cyfarthfa Enterprise Centre, a Learning Zone and Museum 
Improvements.  The development of the Museum's educational role together with the 
need to improve care of its collections, are central to this opportunity.  The ground 
floor will become an extension of Merthyr Museum and will provide an Education 
Centre, additional display space, new collection store, discovery room and living 
history classroom.  This will all be reviewed and progressed through awarding and 
appointing the design team.

3.5 The design contract awarded will provide a multi-disciplinary team comprising of 
Architects, a Quantity Surveyor, Mechanical & Electrical Engineering, Structural 
Engineering and CDM services including a consultancy project management role to 
prepare the necessary supporting information required for HLF Heritage Grant 

Page 148



second round ie. the development phase from RIBA stage 1 (Brief) to stage 3 
(Developed Design). 

4.0 PROCUREMENT 

4.1 The redevelopment was procured via an open OJEU procedure as detailed in the 
previous cabinet report.

4.2 The tender was conducted electronically.

4.3 During the tender process, the project value was clarified with the bidders as the 
original project cost was incorrect – all bids were based on a percentage of the 
overall project costs.

4.4 The cabinet report that was presented to award the contract was based on an 
incorrect figure in error.

4.5 The original value of £204,037.62 should have been £261,096.27 based on a 9.89% 
fee for RIBA stages 1-3 – the overall cost of the project that was clarified was £8.8 
million.

4.6 The overall result in terms of ranking was not affected by the clarification.

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The uplifted design fees subject to the clarification were within the original estimated 
costs for the overall project and will not affect any local authority budgets. 

6.0 SINGLE INTEGRATED PLAN AND SUSTAINABILITY IMPACT 
SUMMARY

6.1 The proposal should have a generally positive impact both from a social, health and 
an economic standpoint.

7.0 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT

7.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) form has been prepared for the purpose of 
this report.  It has been found that a full assessment is not required at this time.  The 
form can be accessed on the Council’s website/intranet via the ‘Equality Impact 
Assessment’ link.  

ELLIS COOPER
CORPORATE DIRECTOR - PLACE & 
TRANSFORMATION 

CHRIS BARRY
CABINET MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION, PLANNING & 
COUNTRYSIDE

Page 149



BACKGROUND PAPERS
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution? 

No

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 150



Document is Restricted

Page 151

Agenda Item 10
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12,14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 155

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Annual Equality Report for 2014/15
	4 Request for the Leisure Trust to Increase Charges
	Appendix 1

	5 Cwm Taf Social Care Workforce Development
	Appendix 1

	6 Cohesion Programme Funding Developments
	Appendix 1

	7 Social Services and Well Being (Wales) Act
	8 Cwm Taf Carers Strategy
	Appendix 1

	9 Cyfarthfa Castle Phase 1 Redevelopment - Design Team Appointment
	10 Sundry Debt Write Off Report
	11 Council Tax/NDR Debt Write Off Report

